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I
t has been an absolute pleasure 

to be able to serve you as 

Chairperson for the South West 

Aboriginal Land and Sea Council 

(SWALSC) for another year. Thank you 

to the Board of Directors, the CEO and 

Staff, the Negotiation Team, Regional 

Development Team and our Working 

Parties, who have all worked extremely 

hard this year and can be very proud of 

their achievements. 

In December 2009, SWALSC under 

instruction from our Noongar claim 

groups, entered into a Heads of 

Agreement with the State Government 

to negotiate the Settlement of native 

title claims in the south west. Formal 

negotiations took place in 2010, and a 

formal offer was subsequently received 

from the State to resolve the native 

title claims. After much negotiation 

and consultation, we have now finally 

reached the point where we can 

present the State’s final offer for your 

consideration. 

As you are aware, most native title 

across the south west area has already 

been extinguished, therefore this 

offer provides us with an excellent 

opportunity to embark on a pathway 

that will move our people forward. 

The Settlement will provide substantial 

resources that will enable us to 

deliver programs to enhance the living 

conditions of our people. We will be 

in a position to establish regional 

corporations that will provide a very 

strong system of Noongar governance 

over Noongar cultural interests. 

Under the Settlement, native title would 

be exchanged for a negotiated package 

of benefits, which would include formal 

recognition of Noongar people as 

Traditional Owners of Noongar country, 

along with land, investment and other 

benefits. 

At the time of writing this message, the 

details of the Settlement offer have 

just been finalised and Agreement 

Information meetings are being 

held both in Perth and in country 

regions. These meetings offer people 

the opportunity to find out which 

Authorisation meetings they are eligible 

to attend, how the meetings will run, the 

benefits contained within the offer, and 

the governance arrangements that will 

be established post-Settlement.

These meetings will be followed by 

Authorisation meetings for each claim 

group, at which people will get to 

vote for or against the Settlement. Of 

course, if people vote against accepting 

the offer, we can continue to pursue 

our native title claims through court, 

however, I strongly urge you to compare 

what the Settlement offers against what 

may be achieved through the court 

process. This is a once only offer, so it 

is important that we have a thorough 

understanding of the choices we have 

to make, and vote for what is in the best 

interests of all Noongar people.

I believe that this Settlement provides 

an excellent opportunity for our people 

and I encourage you to contact SWALSC 

if you need any information that will 

help you make a well informed decision.

Thank you for participating in what has 

been a very busy and successful year. 

God bless you all.

Warm wishes,

Cherry Hayward 

Chairperson 

ChAiRPERSON’S REPORT

Cherry Hayward 
CHAIRPERSON
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I
t’s my privilege to write this year’s 

report to members of the South 

West Aboriginal Land and Sea 

Council (SWALSC), and can very 

honestly say that I am proud of the 

resolve that SWALSC has demonstrated 

in negotiating the package of benefits 

offered to Noongar people to settle 

native title claims over the south west.

I can assure you that negotiations were, 

at times, intense and frustrating, but 

I’m happy to say that the package of 

benefits is world class when compared 

with other settlements of its kind, and 

is the absolute best we could secure.  I 

can also say with confidence that the 

benefits far outweigh the rights that 

could be secured by a win in court, and 

as we know, there’s no certainty of a win.

I would like to take this opportunity to 

thank each and every person who has 

helped bring us to this pivotal point 

in the relationship between Noongar 

people and the State of Western 

Australia – from the SWALSC Board and 

Staff for their leadership and tireless 

commitment, to the Negotiation Team 

who have freely devoted their time and 

expertise, to our Elders whose strength 

and wisdom has inspired us and guided 

our efforts along the way.

This brings me to the highlights of the 

2013/2014 year and, undoubtedly, an 

event which took place in February 2014 

was a moment that I will never forget.

Noongar (Koorah, Nitja, 
Boordawhan) Recognition Bill 
2013

On 26 February 2014, the Premier 

presented a draft of the Noongar 

Recognition Bill to State Parliament 

recognising Noongar people as the 

Traditional Owners of lands in the south 

west corner of Australia.  The Bill forms 

part of the proposed Settlement of the 

Noongar native title claims.

I felt a great sense of privilege to 

witness this historic occasion, and the 

outpouring of joy and satisfaction which 

followed, particularly from Noongar 

Elders, who have waited so long for 

recognition in their own country.

South West Native Title 
Settlement progress

At the time of writing this report, the 

final touches are being made to the 

Settlement documents, including the 

Indigenous Land Use Agreements that 

will formalise the Settlement, should 

it be authorised by the Noongar 

community.  As this phase draws to a 

close, we commence the next phase 

– to conduct Agreement Information 

meetings, followed by the Authorisation 

meetings themselves.  

By the time you read this report, 

Agreement Information meetings will 

be well underway.  These will provide 

you with updated information about 

the Apical Ancestors in each agreement 

area, provide information on what is 

contained in the agreement package, as 

well as information on the Authorisation 

meetings and the decision-making 

process for those meetings.  We hope 

to have strong attendances at these 

meeting so that Noongar people will 

be able to make an informed decision 

based on the facts.

Authorisation meetings will most likely 

commence in February and March 

2015 and that is when it’s up to you, 

the Noongar community, to have your 

choice and make your decision about 

the Settlement and your future.

NAIDOC Week – 7 to 13 July 
2014

Once again SWALSC held stalls at events 

in Wellington Square, Mirrabooka and 

Ashfield.  As always, our promotional 

materials proved very popular and 

we spoke to a huge number of people 

about the progress of native title 

negotiations and the opportunities the 

Settlement would present.  The positive 

response and overwhelming support 

from the Noongar community was very 

encouraging.

Outlook for 2014/2015

Looking forward, the year ahead is as 

exciting as it is daunting.   SWALSC faces 

the most challenging and demanding 

work programme in its history, with 

an exhaustive series of Agreement 

Information meetings and Authorisation 

meetings to be held both in Perth and 

across the regions.  Never in the history 

of native title in Australia has such a 

massive exercise been undertaken, but I 

am confident we are up to the task.

Extension of time to hold AGM

Given the immense amount of work 

and attention required to run these 

meetings to the required standard, we 

have been granted approval 

from the Registrar of Indigenous 

ChiEf ExECuTivE OffiCER’S REPORT



Glen Kelly                                         
CHIEF ExECuTIvE OFFICER



Corporations to postpone the 2014 

AGM to the end of May 2015.   In 

the meantime, our current Board of 

Directors will remain in place.  Director 

elections will take place in time for the 

new Board to be appointed at the AGM 

in 2015.

SWALSC Transition to Central 
Services Corporation (CSC)

In early 2015, a Special General 

Meeting will be called to consider a 

new constitution which is required 

for SWALSC to transition to the new 

Central Services Corporation to provide 

administrative support to the Regional 

Corporations proposed under the 

Settlement arrangements.  If this does 

not take place, a new corporation will 

need to be established and it is likely 

the cultural materials gathered over 

the last 15 years will not be able to be 

preserved.

In closing, I would like to say that 

the time has come for you to make a 

decision which will ultimately shape the 

future of Noongar people.  I urge you 

to come along and participate in the 

Agreement Information meetings that 

will give you the information you need 

to make an informed decision, and most 

importantly to attend the Authorisation 

meetings so you can have your say 

on the future of Noongar people for 

generations to come.

Glen Kelly, Chief Executive Officer
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Cherry was elected to the SWALSC Board 

as a member in 2008 and was elected 

as SWALSC Chairperson at the SWALSC 

2011 AGM. Cherry grew up around the 

Broomehill/Katanning district.

Cherry has worked extensively with 

Indigenous groups, government and 

private organisations throughout 

Western Australia and Queensland.

Cherry has extensive knowledge 

working in native title, and is a qualified 

teacher and anthropologist. She holds 

a Bachelor of Social Science degree 

in Community Management and 

Development and a Cert IV in Front 

Line Management.  She is also currently 

finalising her Bachelor of Law. Cherry is 

an artist who enjoys painting whenever 

she is able to find the time.

Ted was born in Bunbury and educated 

at Darkan and Governor Stirling Senior 

High School.

Ted was on the Interim Executive 

Committee from SWALSC’s 

commencement and was the 

Chairperson between December 2003 

and October 2008 and has continued as 

a Director to the present time.  During 

his time as the Chairperson, Ted worked 

tirelessly for Noongar people through 

the Land Council with the help of the 

Executive Committee and staff.  Ted has 

also held the position of Chair for the 

Aboriginal Legal Service in 1983.

Ted has been involved in Aboriginal 

policy for over 36 years, and for the 

last 19 years has been a self-employed 

Aboriginal Heritage Consultant.

Fay is a Noongar woman who was 

born in Brookton. For many years 

Fay has represented Noongar people 

on important issues in numerous 

organisations including the local Shire, 

the local Noongar Cooperation and the 

Church.

Fay has been a member of SWALSC 

since October 2003 and on the Board 

of Directors, previously known as the 

Executive Committee, for a number of 

terms representing the Brookton Ward.  

Fay is also an Advisory Trustee for the 

Ballardong Native Title Charitable Trust 

Fund with Plan B.

Fay has extensive experience and 

knowledge of Noongar issues and her 

main aim has always been to make an 

improvement in Noongar people’s lives 

through the advancement of health and 

other related initiatives. 

SWALSC DiRECTORS PROfiLES



Cherry Hayward 
CHAIRPERSON 
South West Boojarah Ward       
Negotiation Team Member

Ted Hart 
DIRECTOR 
Gnaala Karla Booja Ward     
Negotiation Team Member

Fay Slater 
DIRECTOR 
Ballardong Ward
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Glen has served on the Executive 

Committee and Board of SWALSC and 

previously the Noongar Land Council 

since being elected as the inaugural 

Chairperson of the NLC.  He has 

served on the State Cultural Materials 

Committee and been elected twice to 

the National Aboriginal Conference 

(forerunner to ATSIC) and to ATSIC.

Glen has a long history of service for 

Aboriginal organisations:  between 

1983 and 2005 he was the Southern 

Aboriginal Corporation’s founder and 

served as Chairman and member.  He 

has 20 years service with the State 

Aboriginal Legal Service and 10 years 

with the Aboriginal Lands Trust, was 

Chairman and founder of the Walitj 

Aboriginal Corporation and Chairman of 

the State Aboriginal Justice Council.  

He also served as Chairman and member 

of the Albany Aboriginal Corporation 

and was an initiator of the Pre-Paid 

Funeral Fund.

Over Glen’s lifetime he has served on 

many State and Federal Committees and 

Boards and met with many Ministers 

endeavouring to achieve better 

outcomes for Noongar people.

Glen was elected as SWALSC Deputy 

Chairperson in November 2011.

Oscar was born in Mt Barker and 

attended school there.  He then 

went on to study at Curtin University, 

gaining a Bachelor of Applied Science 

degree in Aboriginal Community 

and Development.  Oscar also has 

an Associate Diploma in Aboriginal 

Community Development.

Oscar has a strong employment 

background in Indigenous community 

work.  He managed the community 

development employment projects 

program for ten years, the Family 

Violence Prevention program, and is 

currently Programs Manager of Walitj 

Aboriginal Corporation.

Oscar has been involved in Aboriginal 

affairs issues for the past 25 years, 

has been elected three times to the 

ATSIC Council and many other local 

committees.  He has been elected 

to the Relationship Committee for 

Ravensthorpe Nickel Operations.

Oscar is also a Director of the Southern 

Aboriginal Corporation.

Doreen is a Noongar woman who has 

served on the SWALSC Board since 2006, 

developing extensive knowledge of 

native title and land rights. 

Doreen is very active within the 

community, serving a number of 

different organisations that aim to 

improve the lifestyle of Aboriginal 

people. She is currently Chair of the 

South Metropolitan District Aboriginal 

Health Action Group (Bentley), Chair of 

the Area Aboriginal Health Action Group, 

Board member of Derbarl Yerrigan 

Health Service, and Board member of 

the Aboriginal Alcohol and Drug Service.



Oscar Colbung 
DIRECTOR 
Wagyl Kaip Ward

Glen Colbung 
SWALSC DEPuTy 
CHAIRPERSON 
Wagyl Kaip Ward  
Negotiation Team Member

Doreen Nelson 
DIRECTOR 
Whadjuk Ward



Charmaine is a Yued Aboriginal 

Noongar woman born in Moora and a 

member of the Stolen Generation.

With 14 years experience in dealing 

with native title issues, along 

with valuable communication and 

negotiation skills, Charmaine is 

now working on responding to new 

challenges and contributing to 

effective and good outcomes for all 

Noongar people, with special emphasis 

on Yued people.

Charmaine is very proud to have been 

one of three members, and the only 

woman of the Yued people to give 

evidence in the Federal Court held on 

country, which contributed towards 

helping the Noongar people win native 

title.

Charmaine has been involved with 

many boards and committees:  

SWALSC Directors - 2008; Moore River 

Catchment Committee - 2007, Natural 

Resource Advisory Group (Yued) - 

2005; SWALSC Full Council Ward Rep 

Yued (2004) and a Yued Working Party 

Member since 1997.

Charmaine is very passionate about her 

people, country, culture and heritage.

She currently works for the Salvation 

Army as the Aboriginal Liaison Officer.

Dennis has had many occupations 

during his life, including shearer, farm 

hand, vocational officer with the 

Aboriginal Employment and Training 

Branch – Bunbury, and Christian Pastor 

in Pingelly, Victoria and Katanning.

 

In 1996 Dennis attended the 

Indigenous Leadership and 

Management course in Hawaii and 

on returning to Australia became a 

founding member of the National 

Aboriginal Leadership Council.  Dennis 

is currently the Chairperson of the 

Yued Working Party and has been 

the Jetta Family Representative since 

2003.  In 2008 he was nominated and 

authorised to be an Applicant for the 

Yued Native Title Claim Group.

Dennis is very active in the community 

and since 2008, he and his wife have 

been Community Chaplains for the 

south west region of WA.  He also works 

as an Indigenous Prison Chaplain with 

indigenous inmates of the Bunbury 

Regional Prison

Reg is a Noongar Ballardong man, born 

in Northam to Reg Yarran Snr and 

Glenys Yarran.

Reg is currently employed at Toxfree 

as an Indigenous Engagement Advisor. 

He has also worked with the Rottnest 

Island Authority managing native title 

and Aboriginal heritage issues, and the 

Department of Aboriginal Economic 

Development helping Noongars to 

establish businesses and become self 

sufficient.

Reg has been actively involved in 

volunteering his time helping local 

community in aged care units, Noongar 

Elders, NAIDOC and other non-profit 

organisations.

Reg holds a Diploma in Education 

and  a Bachelor of Arts in Business and 

Community Management.



Charmaine Walley 
DIRECTOR 
Yued Ward                       
Negotiation Team Member

Dennis Jetta 
DIRECTOR 
Yued Ward

Reg Yarran 
DIRECTOR 
Ballardong Ward          
Negotiation Team Member
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Jack was born in Manjimup and has 

strong family ties to the Busselton area.  

His two sisters and his father were born 

in Busselton and the family has ties 

to the Hill, Isaacs and Harris families.  

After returning from service in the 

Second World War, his father worked 

with the Forestry Department in the 

south west of WA. 

Jack received his early schooling in 

Nannup and Busselton, and the family 

moved to Perth in the late 1950s.

Jack has a deep sense of identity 

inherited from his parents, along with 

a strong commitment to achieving 

positive outcomes, and is passionate 

about representing his people.

Having served as a Director of SWALSC 

since 2008, James has a strong 

understanding of the important role 

SWALSC plays in ensuring that the 

interests and rights of Aboriginal 

people in the south west of Western 

Australia are recognised and protected.

James has actively participated in 

many meetings with members and 

stakeholders, providing considerable 

input. He enjoys the consultation and 

negotiation aspects of his role with 

government agencies and members of 

parliament and offers a strong voice for 

the GKB Ward.

Gordon runs his own business 

specialising in Aboriginal Affairs, 

coaching, mentoring and leadership 

development and is also a member of 

the Noongar Native Title Settlement 

Negotiating Team.

Gordon is a team player who possesses 

excellent communications skills; is 

honest, transparent and credible. His 

current and previous directorship roles 

require him to be a strong leader and 

to create visions that are realistic and 

achievable. 

Gordon would like to build the 

governance, leadership and economic 

capacity of Noongar people while 

maintaining and fighting for native title 

rights and believes it is only with sound 

governance, consistent leadership and 

having an economy that provides long 

term sustainable options that will move 

Noongar people to a place of power in 

their own Booja (country).

Gordon would like SWALSC to be 

recognised as an organisation that is 

honest, transparent and has credibility 

with Noongar people and other 

stakeholders.



James Khan 
DIRECTOR 
Gnaala Karla Booja

Jack Hill 
DIRECTOR 
South West Boojarah Ward

Gordon Cole 
DIRECTOR 
Whadjuk Ward                
Negotiation Team Member



NEgOTiATiONS REPORT

A
s at the end of June 2014, 

negotiations between the 

Noongar Negotiation Team 

and the WA State Government 

to settle Noongar native title claims 

have reached Agreement in Principle in 

most areas. These documents are posted 

on the SWALSC website. Following 

finalisation of remaining key documents 

in the second half of 2014, including 

Indigenous Land Use Agreements 

(ILUAs), Noongar people will decide 

whether to accept the agreement when 

claim group Authorisation meetings are 

held in early 2015.

These Authorisation meetings will 

conclude a lengthy negotiation 

process. In December 2009 SWALSC 

signed a Heads of Agreement with the 

State Government to negotiate the 

settlement of native title claims in the 

south west. Following three formal 

rounds of negotiations in 2010, a 

formal offer from the State to resolve 

the native title claims was received by 

SWALSC in December 2011. Following 

assessment by the Noongar negotiation 

team and the SWALSC Board, this offer 

was formally accepted as the basis for 

further negotiations. A fourth round of 

formal negotiations was held in May 

2012, then Rounds 5 and 6 in October 

and November 2012, and Round 7 in 

April 2013. In the period covered by 

this Report, a further three rounds 

of negotiations chaired by President 

Raelene Webb of the National Native 

Title Tribunal were held in July 2013, 

and May and June 2014.

A highlight of this reporting period 

was the historic tabling of the Noongar 

(Koorah, Nitja, Boordawhan) (Past, 

Present, Future) Recognition Bill in 

the WA Parliament on 26 February. 

As mentioned in the CEO’s report on 

page 5, this was a profoundly moving 

day. We think that in time, this overdue 

recognition of Noongar people’s 

rightful place in WA will be regarded 

as significantly as the Australian 

Government’s apology to Aboriginal 

Australians in 2008. The Bill also shows 

what is possible in these treaty-style 

negotiations, as opposed to the path  of 

fighting native title claims out in court. 

Progress in relation to matters covered 

in other Heads of Agreement matters 

has been positive, as outlined below.  

Heads of Agreement Items 

1. Governance and Structure

For some time there has been general 

agreement between the State and 

SWALSC about arrangement of 

corporate entities which would hold 

and manage the interests, rights, and 

assets created through the Settlement.  

This will comprise a model designed to 

centralise administrative requirements, 

and efficiently concentrate professional 

expertise while enabling effective 

decision making and operations such as 

land management and community and 

cultural development at a regional level.  

Discussion has focussed on finalising 

the Trust Deed, while drafting of 

regional and central constitutions also 

nears finalisation. 

2. Economic Base

This aspect of negotiations has been 

settled for some time. There is a 

significant financial component of 

the offer made by the State 

to Noongar people. The key 

aspects are to provide funding 



(left to right) Stuart Bradfield - Negotiations & Development Manager, Natalie Goodban - Negotiations Project 
Coordinator.
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of $10 million per annum, for 12 years 

for the operations of a Central Services 

Corporation and the Noongar Regional 

Corporations. We remain hopeful this 

aspect of any final agreement will 

be augmented by a Commonwealth 

contribution.

The second aspect of the economic 

base component of the offer is to 

provide $50 million per annum for 12 

years to a Noongar Perpetual Fund 

(held by the Noongar Boodja Trust). The 

formation of a substantial Perpetual 

Fund aims to ensure the sustainability 

of Noongar governance structures, and 

indeed the Noongar people, culture, 

and land, following a defined 12 year 

period of Government contribution. 

3. Traditional Owner 
Recognition

As discussed above, the Draft Noongar 

Recognition Bill was tabled in 

Parliament on 26 February.  

4. Land Base

This period saw finalisation of the 

Noongar Land Base Strategy which 

details the process by which up to 

300,000 hectares of Reserve land and 

up to 20,000 hectares of freehold 

land will be transferred into the 

Noongar Boodja Trust.  This land will be 

managed via the Regional Corporations 

for cultural, social and economic 

purposes. 

5. Joint Management of 
Conservation Estate

In October 2013 we reached 

Agreement in Principle with the 

WA Government on both Joint and 

Cooperative Management Agreements. 

There will be at least 10 Joint 

Management Agreements over the first 

10 years of the Settlement, facilitating 

Noongar decision-making over 

particular parts of the conservation 

estate such as National Parks. 

Cooperative Management Agreements 

will provide for Noongar decision-

making over the conservation estate 

over the rest of the claim area.   

6. Access to Crown Land/
Access to Natural Resources 
for Customary Purposes

Securing legal access to country for 

traditional purposes is obviously a high 

priority for Noongar people. Agreeing 

on a regime to achieve this has been 

difficult. We have now secured a 

licence arrangement that will operate 

under s91 of the Land Administration 

Act to recognise Noongar people’s 

legal right to access Crown land and 

Unmanaged Reserves to carry out a 

range of cultural activities. Changes to 

Department of Water by-laws will also 

facilitate access to important cultural 

places along waterways and water 

catchments.

7. Land use Activity Regime

The Noongar Economic Participation 

Framework document was agreed in 

principle in October 2013. This will 

provide opportunities to increase 

Noongar employment as well as 

business and contracting opportunities. 

A forum will be established where 

Noongar Regional Corporations will 

sit down with Government to receive 

advance notice of development and 

business opportunities in the regions.  

8. Community Development

The Community Development 

Framework was also agreed in 

principle in October 2013. While 

not a long document, it is extremely 

significant in terms of the opportunity 

it represents. The Framework provides 

acknowledgement by the State that 

Noongar community and cultural 

development priorities should be 

determined by Noongar people, 

not Government. Significantly, the 

Framework includes description of a 

Noongar domain, where programs will 

be run by Noongar people, for Noongar 

people. . 

9. Heritage

The Noongar Standard Heritage 

Agreement as agreed in principle in 

March 2014. This outlines the process 

for heritage surveys to take place, with 

a central role played by local Noongar 

people and Regional Corporations. 

Detailed discussions with Department 

of Aboriginal Affairs have also taken 

place with respect to the conclusion 

of a broader, principles level Noongar 

Heritage Partnership Agreement to be 

also included in ILUAs. 

Housing

Following consistent feedback from 

the Noongar community, housing was 

identified as an issue to be progressed 

alongside Heads of Agreement matters. 

SWALSC continued discussions around 

the development of a Noongar Housing 

Strategy, including the transfer of 121 

properties to the Noongar Booja Trust 

as part of the Settlement. A working 

group formed with the Department of 

Housing is also exploring unique policy 

initiatives aimed at increasing Noongar 

home ownership, and other business 

and growth opportunities.

Stuart Bradfield, Negotiations Manager





Deputy CEO Report

Previously I was employed as the 

Director of Operations and for 

the past three months have been 

employed in the new role of Deputy 

CEO. My current role undertakes the 

overall responsibility of the day-to-

day operations of SWALSC. I also 

have the delegated responsibility of 

implementing the Authorisation Plan.

I am pleased to report that over the 

past 12 months SWALSC has, with best 

endeavors, progressed the negotiations 

with the State of Western Australia, 

almost to finality with very few 

outstanding issues.

Whilst the work has been difficult and 

trying throughout, SWALSC staff need to 

be commended and recognised for the 

outstanding work they have produced, 

and the manner in which they have 

conducted themselves. 

Land unit

The Land Unit, has over the past 12 

months, provided strong input and 

initiative on all matters in relation to the 

finalisation of negotiated Settlement 

between SWALSC and the State. 

The Unit has continued to develop a 

strong working relationship with the 

Noongar community to ensure the initial 

list of lands to be transferred into the 

Noongar Booja Trust happens effectively 

and efficiently.

The Unit also engaged well with a 

number of the State agencies including 

the Department of Lands, Department of 

Parks and Wildlife, Department of Water, 

and the Department of Aboriginal Affairs 

on all aspects relative to the transfer, 

dealing and holding of land.  

The Unit has taken the lead role on 

the proposed transfer of 121 housing 

properties from the Department of 

Housing. This is the foundation of a 

potentially significant asset for the 

Noongar community.

Regional Development unit

The Regional Development Unit (RDU) 

has engaged strongly with the Noongar 

community and is committed to 

ensuring the community are updated on 

the Settlement information.

The Unit has predominately engaged 

with family groups through family 

meetings over the past 12 months with 

excellent attendance and productive 

outcomes. The method of engaging 

families has proved to be the most 

effective way of communicating 

information of the proposed Settlement 

to the Noongar community. 

The work being delivered by the RDU 

is a central component of SWALSC 

and essential to the completion of the 

Authorisation process.  The RDU should 

be commended for their efforts in taking 

the negotiated Settlement information 

to the community with success.

Leadership unit

Over the past 12 months the Leadership 

Unit has continued to deliver programs 

to the community and to SWALSC staff. 

The Leadership program is designed to 

ensure Noongar community is provided 

with the opportunity to participate 

in programs with a particular focus 

on capacity-building for the future of 

Noongar community. 

The Unit works with a number of 

partners where strong relationships 

need to be maintained to ensure their 

ongoing support.  It is important to 

acknowledge Lotterywest, Woodside 

and Price Warehouse Coopers for their 

tremendous support.

I would like to thank the Leadership Unit 

for the work they have produced over 

the past 12 months and look forward to 

the Unit’s continued growth.       

Albany Office

The primary function of the Albany 

office is to ensure key pathways are 

identified for local Noongars to engage 

in employment and training. The office 

has engaged well with local business 

and industry to seek out potential 

employment outcomes for local Wagyl 

Kaip – Southern Noongars (WK-SN) 

and has also engaged well with local 

training providers to ensure pathways 

to employment are indentified for local 

Noongars.       

The office is also responsible for 

assisting the WK-SN claim group 

to access funding through the 

Ravensthorpe Nickel Operation 

Agreement. The office assists community 

with the preparation of applications 

to a suitable standard presentation to 

the Relationship Committee (RC). The 

office endeavors to work with the RC to 

ensure an effective and efficient grants 

approval process. 

The Albany office does experience 

isolation from the Perth SWALSC office, 

which can be challenging at times for 

the staff however, I would like to take 

the opportunity to thank them for their 

efforts and hard work.      

Wayne Nannup, Director of Operations    



OPERATiONS REPORT
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REgiONAL DEvELOPMENT uNiT REPORT



(left to right) Clem Rodney - Ballardong, Malcolm Champion - Gnaala Karla Booja, Gail Beck - RDU Manager & 
Wagyl Kaip, Margaret Drayton - Yued,  Shae Aiello - Events Officer, Brenda Hill - Project Officer,  
Nick Abraham - Whadjuk.

The goal of the RDU is to inform, 

educate, and celebrate the journey 

towards the negotiated Settlement of 

the Noongar native title claims in the 

south west of WA and ensuring Free, 

Prior and Informed Consent is achieved.  

While continuing to support the 

working party native title meetings.

Our objectives over the last 12 months 

have been to:

• Educate and inform the Noongar 

community, advocates, public 

sector and media about the 

offer of a negotiated native title 

Settlement and the long-term 

benefits that could arise.

• Deliver clear, consistent messages 

through a range of communication 

tools  to enable Noongar people to 

make an informed decisions.

• Educate the community about the 

Authorisation process.

• Generate an emotional connection 

to the vision and the potential 

outcome.

• Ensure Noongar people are in a 

position of informed consent prior 

to the decision-making process.

• To continue with the native 

title process until Authorisation 

meetings are complete.

The Noongar community consists 

of a variety of groups with differing 

values, interests, skills and knowledge. 

To ensure that our communications 

were effective, some information 

materials and actions were needed to 

be specifically tailored to each target 

group. 

Therefore the RDU has:

• Played a lead role in preparing, 

presenting and discussing 

negotiation information with the 

Noongar community.

• Ensured there was up-to-date 

and relevant information being 

packaged for distribution.

• Continued to educate and 

inform target groups about 

the advantages, opportunities 

and benefits of a negotiated 

settlement.

• Has generated an emotional 

connection to the vision and the 

potential outcome.

• Going forward will continue to 

ensure Noongar people are in a 

position of informed consent prior 

to the decision-making process 

related to a negotiated Settlement. 

A gathering of 120 community 

champions was held in March 2014 

which saw 19 people volunteer 

to assist in spreading the word, 

particularly amongst the Noongar 

youth. A meeting with volunteers 

followed in April where it was decided 

to hold men’s, women’s and youth 

gatherings which took place throughout 

August 2014. 

Furthermore, the use of the identified 

community members to champion the 

long term effects and opportunities 

within a negotiated Settlement is also 

part of the plan to have other voices 

spreading the message. The community 

champions have assisted in holding 

four men’s forums, one youth forum 

and one women’s forum to date. 

Outcomes of all gatherings was to 



continue to meet on a regular basis, 

which has seen further gatherings 

planned in November and a youth 

summit planned for 2015.  

In addition to the 74 family meetings 

and community forums held during the 

reporting period, the Unit has provided 

over 400  face-to-face updates and over 

2,700 phone enquiries taken.

Finally, RDU continue to facilitate and 

or co-facilitate all native title working 

party meetings and other relevant native 

title business including natural resource 

management and heritage matters, and 

attend to actions arising from those 

meetings. RDU also participates with 

the planning meetings in regards to the 

Authorisation meetings.

Gail Beck, Regional Development Unit 

Manager
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LAND uNiT REPORT

A
s per last year the Land Unit’s 

principal focus has been 

on negotiating land related 

matters under the proposed 

Settlement. These activities have 

included:

• Negotiation of the Land Base 

Strategy;

• Negotiation of the Joint and 

Cooperative Management 

Agreements;

• Negotiation of the Land Access 

Agreement;

• Negotiation of the Noongar 

Heritage Partnership Agreement;

• Negotiation of the Housing 

Strategy; 

• Coordinating Working Party Land 

Selections; and

• Participation in the development 

of the Indigenous Land Use 

Agreements (in particular land 

related matters)      

The Land Unit staff for this year 

comprised:

• Glenn Shaw: Land Unit Manager;

• Vanessa Forward: Lands 

Coordinator;

• Justin McAllister: Joint Management 

Coordinator; and 

• Clive Freeman: Projects Coordinator 

(Clive has since ceased employment 

with SWALSC).

As part of the land selection process 

the Land Unit has been involved with 

the Department of Lands (DoL) and 

Landgate in the development of an 

innovative new land information system 

which will assist with the ongoing 

identification and assessment of land 

being considered for transfer.

The DoL has been progressing 

assessment of land parcels identified 

by the Working Parties, and are in the 

process of completing the initial land 

transfer list which will be included in 

the Indigenous Land Use Agreements 

(ILUAs).  While this list is not exhaustive, 

it demonstrates that the process as 

negotiated has the ability to ensure 

the delivery of land to the Noongar 

community should Authorisation be 

achieved.

The Land Unit has continued to work 

collaboratively with the RDU in the 

preparation of information on land 

available for selection by the Working 

Parties.

The Land Unit has also, wherever 

possible, attended community and 

family information meetings. Together 

with RDU staff and Negotiations staff, 

the Land Unit has provided information 

regarding the wider negotiations 

and, in particular, the progress of land 

related matters including the Land 

Base Strategy, the Cooperative and 

Joint Management Agreements, the 

Land Access Strategy, the Heritage 

Partnership Agreement and the Housing 

Strategy.   

The involvement of the Land Unit in the 

upcoming family meetings, Agreement 

Information meetings and Authorisation 

meetings is something we all look 

forward to undertaking, as it will provide 

an opportunity to inform community on 

the outcomes of the negotiations so far 

and to clarify how the entire process will 

work after Authorisation.

Development of draft policies and 

procedures continues with ongoing 

reviews reflecting the negotiated 

outcomes. It is anticipated that a 

suite of draft policies and procedures 

will be completed in time for the 

Regional Corporations (RC) and Central 

Services Corporation (CSC) to consider 

implementing should the Authorisation 

process be successful.

Glenn Shaw, Land Unit Manager

(left to right) Glenn Shaw - Land Unit Manager,  Justin McAllister - Joint Manager Coordinator,  
vanessa Forward - Lands Coordinator.





LEADERShiP uNiT

Objective

T
he sole aim of the Ngalla 

Kaartdijin, our knowledge - 

Noongar Leadership Programs 

is to increase the capacity of 

all Noongar people to create a stronger 

future for all West Australians.

Ngalla Kaartdijin – Our 
Knowledge Noongar Leadership 
Program  

The focus during 2013 was the 

development phase for the 

consolidation of funding and 

establishment of a Leadership Unit 

within the organisation.  

Lotterywest provided funding for 

program development and delivery and 

administrative and logistical support.

Community feedback encouraged us to 

change the spelling of the name of the 

program to Ngalla Kaartdijin.

Establishment of the 
Business unit with SWALSC 

The establishment of office space 

at SWALSC was a huge task with 

fit-out and movement internally to 

accommodate the new Unit.  We 

acknowledge the staff who vacated 

space to allow this to progress. 

Recruitment

Dorinda Cox was employed in the 

position of Program Manager for the 

Leadership Program, and progressed 

the development of the Community 

Leadership Program. Dorinda’s 

contract ended in June 2014 and we 

acknowledge the contribution that she 

made in the role at SWALSC. Jordan 

Schuler was employed as our Logistics, 

and Administration Coordinator. Tahn 

Donovan has recently commenced in 

the Business Development Manager 

position.

Program Development and 
Delivery

The development of the Community 

Leadership Program framework was 

completed and delivered two programs  

in November and December 2013.  

Community Leadership 
Program

The feedback we received from the 

participants of the two workshops 

confirmed that this program is vital 

for our community.  The information 

collected ranged from specific 

demographical questions to generic 

feedback on the course.

Qualitative data essentially helps 

to tell the story of people’s journey, 

particularly effective for Noongar 

people as the yarning helps others 

understand the impact for a program 

such as this – Noongar people have a 

collective world view which means that 

the benefit or gain is much greater for 

all rather than just individuals.  

An evaluation framework outlining the 

ethics and methodology will be further 

developed in our planning in the future. 

The Community Leadership Course 

(CLC), the entry point for all 

participants in the Noongar Leadership 

Program, was a live-in, three day 

course held at the Vines Resort, Swan 

Valley. The courses were available 

to all Noongar people with the aim 

of introducing a broad range of 

community participants to the basic 

concepts of leadership, how they can 

be applied in a range of settings, and 

setting personal goals for the future.

Key learning outcomes of the 

program included:

(left to right) Tahn Donovan - Business Development Manager, Carol Innes - Leadership Manager, Sandra Harben - 
Kaartdijin Manager, Denise Cook - Kaartdijin Historian.
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• Myself as Leader;

• Values;

• Identifying your criteria for 

effective leadership; 

• Identification of strengths and 

ability to make change; 

• Confidence and walking in two 

worlds;

• Developing family histories;

• Leading with integrity;

• Principles for working together;

• Impact of internalized oppression; 

• Creating a vision and goal setting;

• Planning futures, family and 

community projects;

• Negotiating Partnerships;

• The Noongar native title 

Settlement and what it means for 

the future of all those living on 

Noongar Boodjar, Country.

There was a majority of Noongar 

women participants in the two 

Community Leadership Programs 

and both workshops were well 

attended. The cultural knowledge 

and goal setting and the leadership 

and information concepts were well 

received.  

Participant feedback indicated that 

they would apply their learning in 

their family and community, and in a 

professional and personal capacity. 

Emerging Noongar Leadership 
Program

The purpose of the Memorandum 

of Understanding between SWALSC, 

Curtin University and Polytechnic West 

TAFE launched in February 2013 was to 

have the intent to develop and deliver 

an Associate Degree of Indigenous 

Leadership (Noongar Kaartdijin) and 

the embedded Diploma of Indigenous 

Knowledge.  Unfortunately various 

changes in administration at the 

respective institutions has not allowed 

us to progress the development of the 

program.  We have maintained training 

and development opportunities with 

Polytechnic West to deliver Certificate 

IV in Training and Assessment for 

Noongar people.  Ten people entered 

into this program in May 2014 and  

another program will be delivered in 

December 2014.  Further discussions 

are required to progress the overall 

partnership.

Governance Program

During the year we had extensive 

negotiations with Price Waterhouse 

Coopers in the development of the 

Governance Program. This program 

provides different options and 

alternative training ideas for Noongar 

people to develop the skills and 

capacity to understand governance in 

organisations.  

We had discussions with the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors, 

PwC and the Australian Indigenous 

Leadership Centre (AILC).  

We were able to progress a partnership 

with the AILC and a Memorandum of 

Understanding between SWALSC and 

AILC was signed by respective CEOs 

Glen Kelly and Rachelle Towart.  The 

first of the Certificate IV in Business 

(Governance) commenced in Perth in 

May 2014.  This was an intensive 15 

week program and seven Noongars 

participated and graduated from the 

program. 

The AILC is a registered national 

training provider of accredited courses 

and will provide opportunities for 

further development and accredited 

training opportunities for interested 

people.

Partnerships

We acknowledge our partners who 

have maintained their commitment 

to SWALSC and the Ngalla Kaartdijin 

Leadership Program.  This program 

would not have been developed 

without Woodside through John 

Litchfield and Tarita Cameron (who 

has since left Woodside) and from 

PricewaterhouseCoopers through 

Shane Devitt, Rob Passmore and 

Darlene Yates.  Lotterywest support 

through Jacquie Thompson and Jo 

Wilkie has enabled us to build a team 

to start bringing the programs to 

life.  Through the recent partnership 

with the AILC we hope to be able to 

provide further opportunities that 

allow Noongar people to engage in the 

governance courses that are offered.     

Carol Innes, Leadership Manager





LEgAL SERviCES uNiT REPORT

T
he Legal Unit is managed 

by Principal Legal Officer 

(PLO), Maryse Aranda who 

is assisted by Senior Legal 

Officer (SLO), Peter Nettleton and Legal 

Officers, Carolyn Fennelle, Rory Lang and 

Matthew Casey.

The other Legal Unit members are Sean 

O’Hara, Senior Heritage Officer, Kim 

Brewster, Heritage Officer, Zitah Barto 

and Elaine Kenny, Legal Assistants. 

May Ugle, a young Noongar woman, 

is presently being trained in office 

administration.

Overview

The Settlement negotiations have 

dominated the Legal Unit’s workload, 

and the lawyers, despite being severely 

under-resourced, have managed the 

regular native title workload, along with 

the additional work demands placed 

upon the Unit by the negotiations. 

The PLO has attended most of the 

negotiation meetings, with the SLO 

assisting as necessary.

The Legal Unit has produced a 

substantial amount of work in the 

lead up towards the Authorisation of 

the Indigenous Land Use Agreements 

(ILUA). A comprehensive body of work 

on the various stages for the Settlement 

has been prepared, documenting the 

procedural steps required to get to the 

Authorisation, and then registration, 

of an Indigenous Land Use Agreement 

(ILUA). The work also included the 

processes involved to address any 

objections to the registration of the 

ILUAs. 

This work formed the basis for 

preparatory work by management to 

substantiate the funding requirements 

to deliver a successful program of 

information to the community and 

leading to the Authorisation meetings 

for each of the six Noongar registered 

native title claims.

The Legal Unit has also considered 

and identified the processes to be 

established in a post-Settlement era, 

including a Management Plan for all 

of the agreements that the native title 

claim groups have executed. 

Our lawyers have attended CPD 

seminars to meet the requirements of 

the Legal Practice Board. In addition, 

Legal staff have made presentations, at 

schools, universities and conferences, 

regarding native title.

Native title processes in the south west 

are concentrated on heritage aspects 

of developments. The south west of 

WA does not enjoy the same benefits 

that the north of the state enjoys 

from the mining industry. Future Act 

agreements, when they are negotiated 

with proponents, are invariably much 

more modest in quantum than those 

achieved in the north. Consequently, 

we strive to develop, encourage and 

maintain strong relationships between 

Noongar people and proponents 

who are carrying out activities on the 

land. This has led to challenging and 

changing the mindset of government 

agencies and mining companies who 

are encouraged to commence an early 

and continuous engagement program 

to involve Noongar people on projects. 

The importance of developing long-

term relationships between Noongar 

people and proponents is paramount 

to achieving tangible benefits for the 

Noongar people and the lawyers and 

Senior Heritage Officer are encouraged 

to develop and maintain them.

 

(left to right) Sean O’hara - Senior Heritage Officer, Elaine Kenny - Legal Assistant, Carolyn Fennelle - Legal Officer, 
Maryse Aranda - Principal Legal Officer, Ben Craig-Wadham -  Legal Intern, May ugle -  Legal Assistant, Matthew Casey 
- Legal Officer, Zitah Barto - Legal Assistant, Peter Nettleton - Senior Legal Officer.



Heritage

The reporting year has brought 

about major changes in the way of 

dealing with Aboriginal heritage in 

Noongar country in the south west of 

WA. Changes to the threshold test of 

section 5 of the Aboriginal Heritage 

Act (1972) (AHA) introduced by the 

Department of Aboriginal Affairs 

(DAA) has led to the reassessment of 

many heritage sites on the Register 

of Sites and the Aboriginal Heritage 

Inquiry System (AHIS). Some Sites 

have been moved from the Register 

to ‘Other Heritage Places’ while others 

have been removed from the Register 

altogether. There was minimal prior 

notification to, or consultation with, the 

Noongar community or with those who 

provided the cultural information and 

whose heritage it is.

Of particular concern is the 

deregistration of the rivers which has 

been occurring in Noongar country 

since December 2012. Among those 

rivers confirmed deregistered this 

year are the Preston, Collie, Murray 

and Hotham and last year the Sabina 

River. The Swan River has not been 

reassessed but it is only a matter of 

time before an opportunity arises for 

the DAA to set that process in motion. 

SWALSC was not officially informed of 

these events although was contacted 

for assistance by some Noongars who 

had received verbal advice from DAA.

SWALSC has since written to the 

Minister for Aboriginal Affairs seeking 

an explanation regarding the process, 

and expressing concerns that no 

consultation or notification of the 

deregistration process had occurred. 

The Minister has accepted an invitation 

to attend Working Party meetings to 

discuss these issues.

While the effects of government and 

departmental policy changes towards 

Noongar heritage have had an effect 

on the number of consultations taking 

place in Noongar country, there has 

been some good news. The Whadjuk 

Working Party has taken a lead role 

in the final design of the new Perth 

Stadium and has been involved in the 

Interactive Tendering Process, allowing 

for the first time early and thorough 

engagement of Noongars about a major 

development. The final design of the 

stadium has now been released and 

incorporates many themes of Noongar 

culture. The talks between the Whadjuk 

Working Party and the Department 

of Treasury also produced two key 

documents (The Engagement Strategy 

and the Cultural Heritage Management 

Plan) which will set new levels of 

consultation standards throughout 

Noongar country and beyond.

Early engagement in other regions 

about forest management and 

harvesting programs run by Forest 

Products Commission has seen major 

shifts towards early consultation and 

Site Avoidance strategies. This has led 

to consultation with Noongar people 

about heritage sites that may not be 

on the AHIS but nevertheless may have 

other values to Noongar people such as 

traditional places for camping, hunting 

and gathering of materials.

SWALSC continues to make 

inroads with proponents and build 

relationships that enable active 

and inclusive heritage management 

opportunities for Noongar people. 

The Noongar Standard Heritage 

Agreement (NSHA) was finalised earlier 

this year and signed off in principle and 

is set to become the principal survey 

process document in the south west 

with keen interest already shown from 

government parties such as Watercorp 

and Mainroads WA.

Footnote

The end of the 2013-14 financial 

year has seen funding cease for the 

Whadjuk Protocol agreement and sadly 

the Heritage Officer’s position which 

dealt with specific Women’s issues. 

Funding has also ended for the Senior 

Heritage Officer role, and SWALSC 

is trialling a User Pays system, a fee 

structure based on services provided 

for the supply of Heritage Survey teams 

and other logistical requirements 

with a view to implementation if it is 

successful.

Whadjuk

Progressing outcomes for the Whadjuk 

people native title claimants has been 

the focus for Legal in the reporting 

period as a result of the Whadjuk 

Working Party’s ongoing engagement 

and participation by the Whadjuk 

Working Party in major construction 

projects and developments in the Perth 

Metropolitan area and surrounds. 

As a result of high level engagement 

with the State Government and the 

Working Party delivered two Interactive 

Tender Process presentations for 

the design and development of the 

Perth Stadium and Pedestrian Bridge 

constructions. Legal is now finalising 

the development of the Perth 

Stadium Engagement Strategy and 

Cultural Heritage Management Plan 

as benchmark documents for working 

towards key outcomes to benefit 

Whadjuk People.

The Working Party continues to 

maintain consultation with the State on 

the development of a rail line from the 

City to the Perth Airports.

Other avenues of consultation 

maintained over the reporting period 

include engagement at a 

senior level with DAA on recent 

developments under the 
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Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 (WA), and 

policies that affect the rights, interests 

and heritage of the Whadjuk People. 

In opposing the development of 

the Roe Highway Extension Stage 

8, a submission was made to the 

Commonwealth Minister for protection 

of the North Lake, Bibra Lake Wetlands 

and surrounds (Coolbellup and 

Walliabup) from desecration of very 

significant areas and sites.

Under the Native Title Act 1993 (NTA) 

and Right to Negotiate provisions, 

the Whadjuk People concluded 

negotiations in the reporting period 

with proponents over mining lease 

applications and petroleum exploration 

permit. Those Agreements, the first 

for the Whadjuk People are now being 

finalised and executed.

Ballardong

Maintaining relationships with local 

government within the claim region 

continues to be the focus for Legal 

to achieve tangible outcomes in the 

community for local Noongar people 

including access and use of land. The 

Shire of Quairading and the National 

Trust are now finalising an access 

agreement to the Quairading Reserve 

and new Restrictive Covenant.

Legal also provided advice and 

guidance to the Goomalling Noongar 

community in their engagement with 

the Goomalling Shire over the long 

term access, use and management of 

the Goomalling Reserve.

Under the Native Title Act 1993 (NTA) 

and Right to Negotiate provisions, 

Legal is finalising a gypsum 

mining agreement and progressing 

negotiations for a new gypsum mining 

lease application.

Gnaala Karla Booja

GKB is progressing well and has had a 

busy year in 2014. 

The GKB Working Party has been 

committed to making decisions 

concerning all relevant matters under 

the NTA. The GKB Working Party 

and GKB Future Act Sub Committee 

FASC has been involved in ongoing 

native title consultation in relation to 

future acts, heritage, natural resource 

management and other matters. The 

2014 year has seen GKB actively 

promote and practice transparency and 

ethical responsibility in all facets of 

GKB’s native title business. 

GKB continues to develop and benefit 

from strong relationships forged with 

local communities, State and Federal 

Government, private industry, mining 

and resources proponents and various 

other stakeholders. This includes 

maintaining and developing strong 

relationships with proponents. The 

2014 year saw the continuation of 

Michelle Nelson-Cox’s role as GKB 

Officer. Michelle provides an extremely 

valuable contribution to GKB and has 

been successful in promoting sound 

economic and community development 

engagement and improved the 

relationships between all stakeholders 

and GKB.

GKB is also busy with Right to 

Negotiate matters with various mining 

proponents. 

South West Boojarah

The SWB Working Party has been 

involved in numerous consultations, 

investigations and negotiations in 

relation to Future Acts, involving 

proposed resource, recreation and 

infrastructure developments in the 

region, and is close to concluding a 

Community Partnership Agreement 

with a prominent resource company.

The Working Party has been pro-active 

in working with the Shires to develop a 

system for streamlining the processing 

of Future Act proposals, thereby saving 

time while exercising native title rights 

and interests to achieve substantial 

benefits. It has also been engaged in 

raising its profile in the community 

as the pre-eminent authority on 

Aboriginal cultural matters. Finally, the 

long-awaited SWB Charitable Trust is 

now up and running.

Wagyl Kaip/Southern 
Noongar

The WK&SN Working Party has been 

involved in numerous consultations, 

investigations and negotiations, while 

its Future Act Sub-Committee has been 

kept busy processing proposals from 

shires, government agencies and others 

in a timely and mutually beneficial 

manner. 

The Working Party has actively assisted 

outside parties involved in academic 

research and not-for-profit initiatives 

aimed at conserving the native flora 

and fauna of the region.

Benefits continue to flow from 

Community Partnership Agreements 

with resource companies into the 

WK&SN Native Title Charitable Trust, 

including the staffing and running 

of the Albany office, and various 

education, health and wellbeing 

initiatives. Working Party members are 

also active on Advisory Trustee and 

Relationship Committees.

The Working Party also continues to 

support other community organisations 

and initiatives such as the Noongar 

Camping ground in Bremer Bay.





yued

Yued is making good progress in 2014 

and has had a very successful year. 

The Yued Working Party has been 

committed to making decisions 

concerning all relevant matters under 

the NTA in an effective and transparent 

manner. This has been largely 

attributed to the professional Working 

Party and Yued FASC. 2014 has seen 

the Working Party and FASC involved 

in ongoing native title consultation in 

relation to future acts, heritage, natural 

resource management and other 

matters. The FASC has been actively 

processing various proposals.

Yued continues to develop and benefit 

from strong relationships forged 

with local communities, members 

of parliament, state and federal 

government, private industry, mining 

and resources proponents, and various 

other stakeholders. This includes 

maintaining and developing strong 

relationships with proponents. 

The provisional Yued Native Title 

Charitable Trust continues to benefit 

from the funds flowing from Yued’s 

respective agreements.  Yued is in the 

process of establishing a formal Yued 

Native Title Charitable Trust with a 

corporate trustee once the Yued have 

the required funds to proceed.  In 2013, 

Yued boasted more Right to Negotiate 

matters than any other region. 

Consequently, the 2014 year saw the 

implementation of these agreements. 

Legal Services Statistics

CLAIMANT APPLICATIONS
Filed this year: 0

Number of current active claims: 10

Number of Registered claims: 6

Non-Claimant Applications:  -

Agreements: 4

Ongoing Mediations (Harris Family): 1

Compensation Claims: 0

Future Act Notices received: 304

Responses to Future Act Notices: 440

Determinations of Native Title:  -

ILUAs negotiated, registered:  -

 

CLAIMANT AND DISPuTES
Complaints received: 0

Complaints resolved: 0

Complaints pending: 0

Disputes relating to Native Title 

Applications

0

Disputes relating to ILUAs, rights of 

Access and other matters:

0

Requests for Review of decisions not 

to assist:

0

Maryse Aranda, Principal Legal Officer
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MEDiA & COMMuNiCATiONS uNiT

This has been another frenetic year for 

the Media and Communications team at 

SWALSC. There was sharply increased 

media interest in the proposed Noongar 

native title Settlement with the 

introduction into the West Australian 

Parliament of the Noongar Recognition 

Bill, which is the legislation that 

formally acknowledges the Noongar 

people as the Traditional Owners of the 

south west of Australia. If this Bill is 

passed, it will make the Noongars the 

first Aboriginal group to be formally 

recognised as Traditional Owners 

of their country by an Act of State 

Parliament.

 

This increased media interest 

culminated in the television broadcast 

on NITV and SBS of the Living Black 

special report on the proposed Noongar 

native title Settlement. This report 

analysed the Settlement in detail, and 

featured interviews with opponents as 

well as with SWALSC CEO, Glen Kelly. 

The Living Black report also included 

an independent assessment of the 

Settlement by Professor John Altman 

from the Centre for Aboriginal Economic 

Policy Research at the Australian 

National University in Canberra. 

 

We have to acknowledge the 

consistently high quality, and exemplary 

standard of the work of the SBS/NITV 

journalists. Last year they produced 

excellent coverage of the Wave Rock/

Mercedes Benz apology story and

topped that report this year with their 

detailed coverage of the proposed 

Noongar native title Settlement. 

 

The Media and Communications team 

have been kept busy all year producing 

information materials, and arranging 

publicity and advertising for the 

hundreds of meetings organised by the 

RDU. We have also been helping the 

Research Unit  with the production of 

family tree information for a series of 

Agreement Information meetings where 

the latest anthropological research was 

presented to the Noongar community. 

This research has revealed how close 

the Noongar people came to being 

wiped out by colonisation. A mere 220 

ancestors is all that stood between the 

Noongars and complete oblivion.

 

The information materials developed 

by the Media and Communications 

team have evolved over the last twelve 

months, culminating in production 

of the Quick Guide and the Summary 

Guide booklets. The Quick Guide 

outlines the main components of 

the proposed Settlement, while the 

Summary Guide provides a more in-

depth and detailed summary of the 

Settlement.    

The Media and Communications team 

provided liaison and support to a range 

of external entities, including the 

national Recognise campaign; and to 

Reconciliation Australia in the “Catch, 

Cook, and Yarn” project.

 

The Media and Communications team 

continued to build on the success 

of previous years’ NAIDOC week 

celebrations, participating in the 

NAIDOC events at Wellington Square, 

Mirrabooka, and Ashfield, where they 

provided Noongars with a range of 

educational and information 

materials on the proposed 

(left to right) Kieran Smyth - Media and Communications Officer, Amy Williams - Media and Communications 
Officer, Paul Halfpenny - Media and Communications Manager. 



native title Settlement. SWALSC 

was subsequently nominated for a 

Australasian Promotional Product 

Association Award for the work of the 

Media and Communications team in 

designing and producing the SWALSC 

materials. This work was largely 

undertaken by Amy Williams and 

Kieran Smyth.

 

Noongar Radio has played a crucial 

role in our communications with 

the Noongar community. They are 

a primary source of information 

for many members of the Noongar 

community in Perth. We anticipate 

that Noongar Radio will be even more 

important when the time comes to 

announce details of the forthcoming 

Authorisation meetings, where the 

Noongar community will decide on 

whether to exchange their native title 

claims for the package of benefits 

negotiated between the Noongar 

negotiation team and the State.   

 

Our graphic design specialist Amy 

Williams, and advertising, technology 

and social media specialist, Kieran 

Smyth, have both done an outstanding 

job over the last year. The series of nine 

bi-lingual posters designed by Amy 

continue to be in very high demand by 

those in the wider community involved 

in promoting use and awareness 

of Noongar language and culture, 

especially in the various education 

sectors. Our plan is to significantly 

expand the range of cultural and 

linguistic resources produced at 

SWALSC over the next year, and Amy

 will be playing a critical role in that 

process.

 

Meanwhile, Kieran has proved to be 

invaluable in organising publicity 

and advertising for the hundreds of 

meetings that have been convened by 

the RDU. He has also provided solid 

support to all sections of SWALSC in 

respect of technology and social media. 

 

The Media and Communications team 

has also provided very effective 

strategic advice and initiatives to 

SWALSC in relation to communications 

and information underpinning the 

planning and preparations for the 

Authorisation meetings. 

 

At the time of going to press, we are 

preparing the communications strategy 

for Authorisation meeting awareness, 

which aims to ensure that all members 

of the Noongar community will be 

well informed about the details of the 

forthcoming Authorisation meetings. 

 

Paul Halfpenny, Media and 

Communications Manager

The Quick Guide (above right) 
outlines the main components of 
the proposed Settlement, while 
the...

Summary Guide (Above) provides a more in depth and 
detailed summary of the Settlement.
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Fred Mogridge sharing his traditional knowledge with family groups at Guilderton as part of the 
Catch, Cook, and Yarn project organised by Reconciliation Australia, Recfish West, and SWALSC, 
and funded by Woodside.

Recognition Day. (Left to right) Carol Pettersen, Fay Slater, Charmaine Walley, and Oriel Green were swamped 
by reporters at Parliament House on the day the Noongar Recognition Bill was introduced into Parliament.
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CORPORATE SERviCES uNiT REPORT

Financial

Commonwealth and State Funding have 

been our principal income sources. We 

have kept our expenditure in line with 

our budgets during the year. In 2013 

we received supplementary funding 

to help with the costs associated with 

developing the Noongar Settlement 

agreement (the ILUA), and with the 

costs of holding the Authorisation 

meetings. During the 2013/14 

Financial year, a substantial portion 

of these funds were used to engage 

Clayton Utz to negotiate the ILUA 

document, and to assist with some 

specific issues, including the proposed 

Crown Lands Access Licence. Since 

receipt of those initial funds, it has 

become clear that the conduct of the 

Authorisation meetings will require 

further substantial funding from the 

Commonwealth in 2014/15.

State funding ceased as of June 2014, 

in line with the official end of the 

negotiation period.

Settlement

Corporate Services has been heavily 

involved with the Settlement 

negotiations, especially in relation 

to finalisation of the Trust Deed and 

the development of governance 

arrangements to apply post Settlement. 

During the year, with the assistance 

of planning experts from Water 

Corporation, we have developed a 

Business Plan which will take SWALSC 

through to its anticipated appointment 

as the Central Services Corporation 

(CSC). This appointment would, of 

course, be contingent upon a number 

of factors, primarily the Agreement 

Groups authorising the Settlement and 

SWALSC amending its Rule Book so 

that it can qualify to be appointed as 

the CSC. This will require that a Special 

General Meeting be held in the near 

future to endorse the amendments. 

The main Rule Book changes will be to 

reduce the number of member elected 

directors from twelve to six, and to 

bring in two expert directors. 

Planning environment

We have engaged in extensive planning 

work associated with establishing the 

Regional Corporations and providing 

them with the proposed Trustee of 

the Noongar Boodja Trust a range of 

services. However, we are not able to 

implement any plans until after the 

completion of the Settlement and the 

commencement of funding from the 

Noongar Boodja Trust. Nevertheless, if 

the Settlement does proceed, we are 

ready for the future.

(left to right) Brigitte Docteur - Finance Assistant, Angela Jonucz - Finance Officer, Audrey ugle - Receptionist, 
Malcolm Firth - Corporate Services Manager, Sharon Avis - Records Officer, Iren Szigligeti - Accountant.





People Aboriginal Non Aboriginal Total
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Male 9 10 10 9 19 19

Female 9 10 19 20 28 30

Total 18 20 29 29 47 49

Membership
New members accepted last year (between 1 July 2012 and June 30 2013) 302

New members accepted this year (between 1 July 2013 and June 30 2014) 448

Total members at 30 June 2014 4182

 
Malcolm Firth, Corporate Services Manager

Membership

There has been a large increase in 

the number of members, no doubt 

influenced by interest in the Settlement 

process.

Membership statistics are as follows:

Staff Profile
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RESEARCh uNiT REPORT

I
n the 2013-2014 year the Research 

Unit finalised the Agreed Facts 

materials as part of the Heads of 

Agreement negotiations and has 

also played a key role in planning for the 

Authorisation meetings for the ILUAs 

that will be put to each of the native 

title claim groups in the coming year.

Research Staffing Changes

At the end of June 2014 the Research 

Unit had a complement of six staff, 

with five permanent positions and 

one casual part-time position. The 

permanent positions were the three 

Anthropologists (Aimee Lamatoa, 

Britta Kuhlenbeck and Janet Osborne) 

Research Officer (Kim Brewster) and 

Research Manager (Sarah Bell).

Indigenous Student 
Anthropology Internship

SWALSC was successful in obtaining 

funding from the Attorney General’s 

Native Title Anthropologists Grants 

program in 2013-14 for our Internship 

program. Unfortunately, the delay 

within government on the issuing of 

the contract meant that we were unable 

to commence the Internship in the 

2013-14 university summer break. We 

negotiated an amended start time for 

this project and will be placing an Intern 

in the 2014-15 university summer break.

Information Management 
Project

Work on the Information Management 

Project continued in the 2013-14 year. 

However the project is currently on 

hold as we are unable to fill the vacant 

Information Management and Library 

Officer position due to budgetary 

constraints. Work that was undertaken 

on this project in the 2013-14 period 

included an ongoing program of shifting 

electronic copies of materials to the 

document management software to 

ensure proper cataloguing. This process 

was assisted by the approval to use a 

funding under-spend from our Attorney 

General’s Native Title Anthropologist 

Grant, which enabled us to employ 

casual staff to work on the Information 

Management Project.

Research Staffing 
Professional Development

Research Staff participated in a 

number of professional development 

opportunities this year, including 

attendance at programs run by the 

Centre for Native Title Research 

(ANU) and the Aurora Project (a 

training organisation to Native 

Title Representative Bodies). Some 

Staff also attended the Australian 

Anthropological Society Conference in 

Canberra. In addition, SWALSC Research 

Staff have been guest presenters at 

forums including the Aurora Project’s 

Introduction to Applied Native Title 

Anthropology Course, and at the 

University of Western Australia Careers 

in Anthropology panel.

(left to right), Sarah Bell - Research Manager, Karen Hazlett - Information Library Officer, Aimee Lamatoa -  
Anthropologist, Janet Osborne - Anthropologist, Britta Kuhlenbeck -  Anthropologist. 





Native Title Claim Research 
updates

The Agreed Facts process

In December 2009 SWALSC signed a 

Heads of Agreement with the State 

Government to negotiate Settlement 

of native title claims in the south west 

of WA. An important part of the Heads 

of Agreement is the development of 

a connection research process that 

could provide satisfactory evidence 

to the State that they were engaging 

in a Settlement with the right people 

for country. The aspects of connection 

evidence that it was agreed would be 

provided are apical ancestor reports and 

sample genealogies. The apical ancestor 

reports identify the Noongar people 

who are known to have been in Noongar 

country at or near 1829, the year of 

the declaration of British sovereignty 

over WA.  The sample genealogies from 

contemporary claimants demonstrate 

their genealogical connections to 

identified apical ancestors. The sample 

genealogies support the connection of 

the whole claim group to the claim area 

and do not privilege any individuals 

involved.

At the end of February 2014 the sample 

genealogies had been completed 

and agreed with the State Solicitor’s 

Office (SSO) following which the State 

advised that it no longer required the 

apical ancestor reports. However, by 

the end of June 2014 the Research 

Unit had completed extensive apical 

ancestor research to identify the list 

of ancestors that described the Native 

Title Agreement Group for each of six 

underlying claims. These revised apical 

ancestor lists for each of the Native Title 

Groups have been agreed upon by the 

SSO. 

Ballardong Claim – 
Anthropologist Aimee Lamatoa

Agreement on the Ballardong Agreed 

Facts sample genealogies was reached 

between SWALSC and SSO in October 

2012, followed by consultations 

with the participants in the research 

process. Participants were afforded the 

opportunity to provide feedback, which 

was then brought back to SSO and final 

agreement was reached in July 2013.

The research process for the sample 

genealogies was very detailed and 

revealed a great deal of information 

previously unknown to SWALSC. 

Resulting in some apical ancestors 

on the claim being replaced by their 

parents or grandparents. Additionally, 

research undertaken in 2013- 2014 

has identified several new ancestors, 

taking the claim group description to 

32 ancestors and ancestor couples from 

26 in the previous year. This additional 

information was fed back into the apical 

ancestor report, which was finalised 

in April 2014. The current list of 32 

Ballardong apical ancestors has been 

agreed upon by the SSO, and will define 

the Ballardong Native Title Agreement 

Group at the upcoming Authorisation 

meeting. 

yued Claim – Anthropologist 
Aimee Lamatoa

Meetings were held between the 

SWALSC and SSO in May 2014 to 

confirm the agreed final Yued Agreed 

Facts sample genealogies. Consultations 

with the Yued claimant participants on 

these agreed sample genealogies are 

ongoing in 2014.

An intensive research process for the 

Yued claim was undertaken in 2013- 

2014 which has resulted in substantial 

revision to the apical ancestor list. 

Several ancestors were identified as 

having connections to other claim 

regions, so were removed from the 

claim group description and placed 

on other claims. Some new ancestors 

were also identified, resulting in the 

claim group description remaining at 

19 ancestors and ancestor couples. The 

current list of these 19 Yued apical 

ancestors has been agreed upon by the 

SSO, and will define the Yued Native 

Title Agreement Group at the upcoming 

Authorisation Meeting.

South West Boojarah Claim 
– Anthropologist Britta 
Kuhlenbeck

The Agreed Facts sample genealogies 

for the South West Boojarah (SWB) 

claim, and consultations with SWB 

claimants whose genealogies were used 

in this process, were completed in 2013. 

Consultations with these participants 

resulted in feedback and to SSO final 

agreement was reached in December 

2013.

The second component of the Agreed 

Facts connection research process—the 

apical ancestor report for the SWB 

claim—was completed in June 2014. 

A total of 21 apical ancestors have 

been identified for the claim. Regular 

updates of research progress into apical 

ancestors for the SWB claim region were 

provided to the SWB Working Party 

throughout 2013 and 2014. The current 

list of these 21 SWB Apical ancestors 

has been agreed upon by the SSO, and 

will define the SWB Agreement Group at 

the upcoming Authorisation meeting. 
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Wagyl Kaip/Southern Noongar 
Claim - Anthropologist Britta 
Kuhlenbeck

The Agreed Facts sample genealogies for 

the Wagyl Kaip and Southern Noongar 

(WK/SN) claim region, and subsequent 

consultations with WK/SN claimants 

whose genealogies were used in this 

process have been completed. Final 

agreement with SSO was reached in 

December 2013. 

The apical ancestor report for the WK/SN 

claim has also been completed. In the 

research process, 59 apical ancestors 

have been identified. Regular updates 

of the progress of the research were 

presented to the WK/SN Working Party 

at meetings throughout 2013 and 2014. 

The current list of these 59 WK/SN 

Apical ancestors has been agreed upon 

by the SSO, and will define the WK/

SN Agreement Group at the upcoming 

Authorisation meetings. 

Gnarla Karla Booja Claim– 
Anthropologist Janet Osborne

As part of the Agreed Facts process, 

SWALSC provided a Sample Genealogies 

Report for the Gnarla Karla Booja 

(GKB) claim to the State in May 2009. A 

preliminary apical ancestor report was 

written in 2011, outlining the origins 

and histories of a total of 16 GKB apical 

ancestors who had been identified 

through research by that time. 

Further research, conducted by Janet 

from 2012, has identified a number of 

additional GKB apical ancestors. Based 

on this research, the GKB apical ancestor 

list has expanded to include a total of 

36 apical ancestors. 

This research has been presented to the 

GKB Working Party on several occasions 

throughout 2013 and 2014. The current 

list of these 36 GKB apical ancestors 

has been agreed upon by SSO, and will 

define the GKB Agreement Group at the 

upcoming Authorisation Meetings.

Whadjuk (Perth Metropolitan) 
Claim – Anthropologist Janet 
Osborne

Janet provided an apical ancestor report 

for the Whadjuk claim to the State 

in August 2012 as part of the Agreed 

Facts process. The report discussed 

the research for nine Whadjuk apical 

ancestors. 

Since that time, research has continued 

and additional Whadjuk apical ancestors 

have been identified. Based on this 

research, the Whadjuk apical ancestor 

list has expanded to include a total of 

14 apical ancestors. 

This research has been presented to 

the Whadjuk Working Party on several 

occasions throughout 2013 and 2014. 

The current list of these 14 Whadjuk 

apical ancestors has been agreed upon 

by the SSO, and will define the Whadjuk 

Agreement Group at the upcoming 

Authorisation meetings. 

Janet also completed four Sample 

Genealogies Reports, in collaboration 

with Whadjuk claimants, and has 

provided these to SSO as part of the 

Agreed Facts Process. 

Janet has also assisted the Whadjuk 

Claim, RDU and Legal in holding a 

number of successful Family Meetings 

to continue to build the membership of 

the Whadjuk Working Party, formed in 

2011.

Sarah Bell, Research Manager





SWALSC OvERviEW

Description of SWALSC

The South West Aboriginal Land and 

Sea Council Corporation (SWALSC) is 

the Native Title Representative Body 

(NTRB) for the south west of Western 

Australia.

It was recognised as an NTRB by the 

then Minister for Immigration and 

Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs, 

Hon. Philip Ruddock in December 2001.

SWALSC’s boundaries generally 

correspond with those of the former 

Perth Noongar Regional Council and 

the Noongar Country Regional Council 

(Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

Commission Regional Councils). It is 

estimated that between 30,000-40,000 

Noongar people live in the region.

SWALSC’s main funding comes from 

the Department of Prime Minister 

and Cabinet (DPMC). SWALSC is no 

longer funded by Department of 

Families, Housing, Community Services 

and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA). 

In addition, significant funding is 

received from the State Office of Native 

Title (ONT). This funding allows the 

employment of our RDU, who work 

with regional Aboriginal groups to 

develop governance structures that will 

enhance native title settlement.

As at the end of the financial year, 

SWALSC had no significant debts, and 

looks forward to a period of financial 

stability and continuing good relations 

with our main funding body.

The Board of Directors has 12 elected 

members who provide policy guidance 

to the organisation. The day-to-

day management of SWALSC is the 

responsibility of the Chief Executive 

Officer, who is a salaried officer.

As at July 2007, along with all similar 

organisations, SWALSC was required 

to operate under the Corporations 

(Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) 

Act 2006 (CATSI) and developed a 

new constitution in compliance with 

CATSI. The new constitution (Rules) was 

endorsed by the Registrar on 12 June 

2009.

Legislative Functions

As an NTRB, SWALSC has specific 

functions under Part 11, Division 3 of 

the Native Title Act 1993 (NTA).

These functions are:

• Facilitation and assistance 

functions referred to in section 

203BB.

• Certification functions referred to 

in section 203BE.

• Dispute resolution functions 

referred to in section 203BF.

• Notification functions referred to 

in section 203BG.

• Agreement making functions 

referred to in section 203BH.

• Internal review functions referred 

to in section 203BI.

• Other functions referred to in 

section 203BJ and such other 

functions as are conferred on 

representatives bodies by the 

Native Title Act.

Section 203B(2) provides that the 

functions conferred on a representative 

body (whether in its capacity as a 

representative body or otherwise) by 

or under:

• Any other law of the 

Commonwealth; or

• A law of the State or Territory in 

which it operates.

Section 203B (3) provides that except 

as mentioned at sections 203BB, 

203BD and 203 BK, a representative 

body must not enter into an 

arrangement with another person 

under which the person is to perform 

the functions of the representative 

body.

Section 203B (4) provides that a 

representative body must, from time 

to time, determine the priorities it will 

give in performing its functions. It may 

allocate resources in such a way as it 

thinks fit, so as to be able to perform 

its functions efficiently but must 

give priority to the protection of the 

interests of the native title holders.

Section 203 BA of the NTA provides 

that a representative body must use its 

best efforts to perform its functions in 

a timely manner, particularly in regard 

to time limits set by the NTA and other 

relevant laws.

Corporate Governance 
Policies

vision

SWALSC’s corporate vision is to ensure 

that the native title rights and interests 

of Aboriginal people in the south west 

of Western Australia are recognised 

and protected. This will be achieved 

through consultation, negotiation, 

agreement making and the exercise of 

procedural rights.

values

To effectively perform the function of 

an NTRB, SWALSC has established a set 

of guiding principles under which it 

operates. These are to;

• do justice to the past and serve the 

future;

• support Noongar people 

and culture;

• form effective and 

meaningful outcomes for 
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the Noongar community; and

• deliver the highest possible 

standard of service.

Policies and Procedures

SWALSC staff and officers are guided 

by the Rules of the Corporation and the 

policies that have been approved by 

the Board of Directors.

Setting of Priorities

SWALSC has established a set of 

priorities that reflect the statutory 

and financial framework under which 

NTRBs are required to operate. At all 

times, the organisation’s priorities are 

designed to reflect the needs and the 

aspirations of the Noongar people.

Organisational Structure

Membership

SWALSC membership is open to all 

Noongar people aged 18 years and over 

(see Glossary and Definitions).

Governing Committee (the 
Directors)

The Governing Committee (the 

Directors) is currently comprised of 12 

elected members. 

The role of the Directors is to ensure 

that the objectives of the organisation 

are carried out and that it performs 

the statutory functions of an NTRB. 

The Directors provide general policy 

direction for the organisation and 

input into the development of state 

and national policy as it relates to 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

people in the region.

Audit and Finance Committee

The Directors have appointed a 

Treasurer. The Directors do not involve 

themselves in the day-to-day financial 

management of the organisation, but 

review financial reports and meet 

with the auditor to discuss SWALSC’s 

controls and processes.

Senior Office Holders

Chairperson

Cherry Hayward was elected as 

Chairperson of SWALSC in November 

2011. 

Deputy Chairperson

Glen Colbung was elected as SWALSC 

Deputy Chairperson in November 2011.

Treasurer

Dennis Jetta was elected Treasurer 

in November 2011 at the first board 

meeting after the AGM.

Public Officer

Glen Kelly is the SWALSC Public Officer 

and operates in accordance with 

Section 56 of the Native Title Act.

Management: Administration

The senior management 

(administrative) committee includes:

• Chief Executive Officer, Glen Kelly;

• Deputy CEO, Wayne Nannup

• Manager, Negotiations Stuart 

Bradfield;

• Manager, Corporate Services, 

Malcolm Firth;

• Manager, Leadership, Carol Innes;

• Manager, Research, Sarah Bell;

• Principal Legal Officer, Maryse 

Aranda

Chief Executive Officer

Glen Kelly is the CEO of SWALSC. Glen 

is a Noongar man and brings to SWALSC 

20 years of experience in Aboriginal 

Affairs, much of it in native title and 

Indigenous land related issues.

Glen has held a number of senior 

positions in Aboriginal organisations, 

both as a manager and as an advocate 

of Aboriginal interests, he has also held 

positions within government agencies. 

Glen has held, and continues to hold, 

positions on high level committees 

and statutory authorities at a State and 

Commonwealth level that relates to 

Aboriginal land interests. Glen is a keen 

advocate of Noongar interests, and in 

his role as the CEO, seeks to ensure 

that SWALSC provides an efficient and 

effective service to Noongar people 

and their native title claims.

The CEO is appointed by the Board 

of Directors and acts in accordance 

with the policies determined by 

that committee. He attends Board 

meetings and provided regular reports 

in reference to the operations of the 

organisation.

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Wayne Nannup is Director of 

Operations and Deputy CEO. Wayne 

joined SWALSC in 2012. He has 

completed a Bachelor of Law degree 

(Murdoch), and was previously 

employed with the Aboriginal Legal 

Service as the manager of the Court 

Officer Unit where he worked for 

approximately four years. Prior to that, 

Wayne was with the State Department 

of Industry and Resources, following a 

career in the building industry. Wayne 

is directly responsible for the Regional 

Unit, the Land Unit, Albany staff and the 

Leadership Unit.

Negotiations and Development 
Manager

Dr Stuart Bradfield joined SWALSC in 

2007, initially working with 

Gnaala Karla Booja group 

on mining and economic 

agreements. Prior to 2007 he 





worked for the WA Office of Native 

Title, the Australian Institute of 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

Studies (AIATSIS), and the Indigenous 

Governance Programme at the 

University of Victoria, Canada. 

Stuart has published articles and book 

chapters on treaty and agreement 

making between Indigenous and other 

peoples, native title and Aboriginal 

affairs policy and politics. He has 

worked with Noongar people for about 

10 years, and lives in Fremantle with 

his wife and two young kids. 

Manager, Corporate Services

Malcolm Firth commenced with 

SWALSC in April 2007. Malcolm is a 

Chartered Accountant, holds a Bachelor 

of Commerce and an MBA. He has 

extensive experience in both the 

mining and community services sectors.

Malcolm is responsible for all 

administrative functions, including 

financial management, information 

systems, human resources and 

coordination of strategic and 

operational planning.

Manager, Leadership

Carol Innes is  Noongar woman with 

over 20 years experience working with 

Aboriginal people in government and 

non-government agencies. In the past 

12 years her work has been in the area 

of Indigenous arts, at state, federal 

and local levels. Carol manages non 

native title projects at SWALSC and 

directly oversees the Memorandum 

of Understanding between DAA/ALT 

and SWALSC. Carol is a volunteer 

board member on a number of arts 

and community organisations. Carol 

has a Bachelor of Arts in Aboriginal 

Community Management and 

Development.

Manager, Research

Sarah Bell has been the Research 

Manager at SWALSC since October 

2011. Sarah is an anthropologist 

who has worked in native title and 

land-rights, mainly in Aboriginal 

organisations, for over 15 years. Sarah 

has undertaken contributory native 

title connection research to a number 

of successful native title claims in 

central desert regions of WA, including 

the Martu native title claim, which she 

co-researched and co-authored. In her 

role as Research Manager at SWALSC, 

Sarah’s main focus has been managing 

and coordinating the finalisation of the 

“agreed facts” connection research. This 

is the native title connection research 

process agreed with the State of 

Western Australia, required to provide 

satisfactory evidence to the State that 

they are engaging in an Alternative 

Native Title Settlement with the right 

people for country.

Principal Legal Officer

The Principal Legal Officer is Maryse 

Aranda. Maryse joined SWALSC in 2008 

following an extensive career in law. 

Her responsibilities are to oversee the 

day-to-day operations of the Legal 

Unit. The Legal Unit provides legal 

advice, guidance and assistance to the 

CEO on native title matters relating 

to the conduct of civil litigation and 

other documentary process required in 

connection with native title and related 

litigation. The Legal Unit also provides 

assistance and representation to clients 

in negotiations under the Native Title 

Act mediation conference process.

Separation of Powers

It is the responsibility of the Board 

to ensure that the objectives of the 

organisation are carried out and 

that it satisfactorily performs all 

of the functions of a Native Title 

Representative Body in accordance 

with the Native Title Act 1993.

The Board of Directors can authorise 

the use of the common seal, make and 

rescind policies, constitute committees 

and make by-laws. Clause 13.18(b) of 

the Rules states that the Board shall 

not concern itself with the day-to-day 

management of the offices of SWALSC, 

which is the sole province of the CEO.

Board meetings held during 
the 2013/2014 financial 
year:

9 July, 24 September, 20 

November 2013,

25 February, 6 May 2014

Board meeting attendance:

Member Meetings 
attended

Possible 
attendance

Cherry Hayward (Chair) 5 6
*Glen Colbung (Deputy Chair) * *
Oscar Colbung 1 6
Gordon Cole 6 6
Ted Hart 4 6
Jack Hill 5 6
Dennis Jetta 6 6
James Khan 5 6
Doreen Nelson 4 6
Fay Slater 6 6
Charmaine Walley 6 6
Reg Yarran 4 6

*Note: Mr. Colbung was on approved leave of absence.
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The directors submit the financial report of the South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council Aboriginal Corporation 

for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 in accordance with Regulation 333-10.02 of the Corporations (Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander) Regulations 2007.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

g.

h.

The above statements are made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 22 September 2014.

Cherry Hayward

Chairperson

SOUTH WEST ABORIGINAL LAND AND SEA COUNCIL 
ABORIGINAL CORPORATION

Indigenous Corporation Number (ICN) 3832
Australian Business Number (ABN) 42 485 265 673

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT TO MEMBERS
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Directors’ Report

Details of operations are contained in the Annual Report on pages 35 to 58. 
The Corporation returned a surplus of $4,350 for the financial year.

No significant change in the Corporation’s state of affairs occurred during the year.

As the Native Title Representative Body of the Noongar people of the south west region of Western Australia 
the principal activities of the organisation during the financial year were to provide services and advocacy directed 
towards:
• securing land;
• protecting the spiritual and physical connection to land of members and their extended families in accordance 

with their traditions, laws and customs;
• supporting the maintenance, development and advancement of Noongar culture, language and society; and
• promoting Aboriginal reconciliation as a basic tenet of Australian society.
 
There was nothing arising since the end of the financial year to significantly affect the  corporation’s operations, 
results of operations, or state of affairs in future financial years.

There were no developments in the corporation’s operations that are likely or expected to significantly affect the 
operations in future years.

SWALSC was not subject to any particular or significant environmental regulation under Commonwealth, State, 
or Territory law during the last year.

There was no distribution of payments to members during the year.

No distributions of payments to members were recommended or declared during the year.



In the opinion of the Directors, the financial report, as set out on pages 35 to 58:

Cherry Hayward

Chairperson

Dated this 22nd day of September 2014

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

1)

2)

Presents a true and fair view of the financial position of South West Aboriginal Land and Sea 

Council Aboriginal Corporation as at 30 June 2014 and its performance for the year ended on 

that date in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and with the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006.

At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that South West Aboriginal 

Land and Sea Council Aboriginal Corporation will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall 

due.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for 

and on behalf of the Directors by:

Statement by the Directors
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Note 2014 2013
revenue  $  $ 
DPMC grant            3,593,745         3,336,157 
State grant            2,386,827         2,422,538 
Other grants and income            1,511,078         1,490,689 
Interest                 55,399              67,245 
total revenue 2            7,547,049         7,316,629 

expenses 

Employee benefits  expense 3            4,850,902         4,360,988 
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense                 69,235              68,288 

Trainings and seminars expense                 16,505            129,257 
Other supplies 4            2,557,832         2,724,116 
Finance costs 5                 32,606              28,840 

Auditor's remuneration 6                 15,620              12,831 
total expenses            7,542,700         7,324,319 
Profit before income tax                   4,350               (7,690)
Income tax 7                           -                      -

surplus from operations                   4,350               (7,690)

total comprehensive income                   4,350               (7,690)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

statemeNt oF comPreheNsiVe iNcome  For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council Aboriginal Corporation Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
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Note 2014 2013
assets  $  $ 

curreNt assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8            1,402,854         1,855,566 
Trade and other receivables 9               430,368            197,702 
Other current assets 10               141,446              58,919 
total curreNt assets            1,974,669         2,112,187 

NoN-curreNt assets
Property, plant and equipment 11               467,600            472,605 
total NoN-curreNt assets               467,600            472,605 

total assets            2,442,268         2,584,792 

liaBilities

curreNt liaBilities
Employee provisions 12 804,961            699,553 
Trade and other payables 13 479,284            451,437 
Grant income in advance 14 531,113            714,671 
Borrowings 15 255,601            254,349 
Net GST Payable 16 (27,711)              86,341 
total curreNt liaBilities 2,043,248         2,206,352 

NoN-curreNt liaBilities
Borrowings 15                 50,131              58,411 
Employee provisions 12                 54,882              30,370 
total NoN-curreNt liaBilities               105,013              88,782 

total liaBilities            2,148,261         2,295,134 

Net assets               294,008            289,659 

eQuitY
Retained earnings               289,659            297,349 
Current year earnings                   4,350               (7,690)
total eQuitY               294,008            289,659 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

statemeNt oF FiNaNcial PositioN as at 30 JuNe 2014

South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council Aboriginal Corporation Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
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earnings reserves  total 
 $  $  $ 

Balance at 1 July 2012               297,349                      -           297,349 
Operating Surplus/(Deficit)                  (7,690)             (7,690)

Balance at 30 June 2013               289,659                      -           289,659 
Operating Surplus/Deficit                   4,350               4,350 
Adjustment to retained earnings                         -                      - 
Balance at 30 June 2014               294,008                      -           294,008 

2014 2013
 $  $     

actiVities
Operating grants receipts 6,394,415         6,172,538 
Receipts from customers 1,251,216         1,297,350 
Interest received 55,399              67,245 
Payments to employees (4,720,983)        (4,201,085)
Payments to suppliers (3,207,818)        (2,684,083)
Interest paid (32,606)             (28,840)
Net GST paid (114,053)            127,194 

Net cash provided by operating 
activities 20 (374,429)            750,320 

cash FloWs From iNVestiNG 
actiVities
Net Proceeds from sale of property, 
plant and equipment 475,641            390,503 
Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment (546,894)           (455,170)

Net cash provided by (used in) 
investing activities (71,253)             (64,667)

cash FloWs From FiNaNciNG 
actiVities

Proceeds from borrowings 305,731            422,283 
Repayments (312,761)           (384,532)

Net cash provided by (used in) 
financing activities (7,030)              37,751 

Net increase in cash held (452,712)            723,404 
cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of financial year 1,855,566         1,132,162 

cash and cash equivalents at end of 
financial year 8 1,402,854         1,855,566 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Note

statemeNt oF chaNGes iN eQuitY For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

statemeNt oF cash FloW For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council Aboriginal Corporation Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
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The financial statements cover South West Aboriginal Land 

and Sea Council Aboriginal Corporation as an individual 

entity. South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council 

Aboriginal Corporation is a corporation incorporated under 

the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 

2006.

    

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies

Principal Activities  

As the Representative Body of the Noongar Community of 

the south west region of Western Australia, the principal 

activities of the corporation during the financial year 

were to provide services and advocacy directed towards:

 

• securing land;  

• protecting the spiritual and physical connection 

to land of members and their extended families in 

accordance with their traditions, laws and customs;

• supporting the maintenance, development and 

advancement of Noongar culture, language and 

society; and

• promoting Aboriginal reconciliation as a basic tenet 

of Australian society. 

No significant change in the nature of these activities 

occurred during the year. 

 

Directors   

The names of directors throughout the year or at the date 

of this report are:

Cherry Hayward -  Chair  

Glen Colbung -   Deputy Chair

Dennis Jetta -   Treasurer  

Oscar Colbung

Gordon Cole   

Doreen Nelson

Ted Hart   

Jack Hill

James Khan   

Fay Slater

Charmaine Walley

Reg yarran     

Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements are general purpose financial 

statements that have been prepared in accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting 

Interpretations, and other authoritative pronouncements 

of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the 

Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 

2006.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting 

policies that the AASB has concluded would result 

in a financial report containing relevant and reliable 

information about transactions, events and conditions to 

which they apply. Material accounting policies adopted 

in the preparation of these financial statements are 

presented below and have been consistently applied 

unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are prepared on the basis that 

the corporation is a going concern. This is dependent on 

continued financial support from government funding.

The financial statements have been prepared on an 

accruals basis and are based on historical costs, modified, 

where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of 

selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial 

liabilities. 

The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars and 

rounded to the nearest dollar.

 

Accounting Policies     

  

a. Income Tax 
   

The corporation is a Public Benevolent Institution and is 

endorsed to access the following tax concessions: Goods 

and Services Tax (GST) Concession, Fringe Benefits Tax 

(FBT) and  Income Tax Exemption. The corporation is also 

endorsed as a Deductible Gift Recipient (DGR) from 1 

October 2001 and is covered by Item 1 of the table in 

section 30-15 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

b. Inventories 

  

The corporation does not carry inventory. 
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c. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried 

at cost or fair value as indicated, less - where applicable 

- any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

Purchases costing less than $500 are expended in the year 

of acquisition (other than where they form part of a group 

of similar items which are significant in total, or where 

specific purpose grants have approved the items).

    

Plant and equipment  

 

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less 

depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed 

annually to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable 

amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is 

assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows 

that will be received from the asset’s employment and 

subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have 

been discounted to their present values in determining 

recoverable amounts.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 

amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that future economic benefits 

associated with the item will flow and the cost of the item 

can be measured reliably. All repairs and maintenance are 

charged to the statement of comprehensive income during 

the financial period in which they are incurred.

     

Depreciation 

   

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including 

building and capitalised lease assets, is depreciated using 

diminishing value method. Leasehold improvements 

are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired 

period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the 

improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 

assets are:

     

Class of Fixed Assets   Depreciation Rate  

    

Leased motor vehicles   22.50%  

 

Office equipment and furniture  20.00% 

 

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed 

and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately 

to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 

greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 

comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 

gains and losses are included in the income statement. 

When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in 

the revaluation relating to that asset are transferred to 

retained earnings.

     

d. Leases 

   

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and 

benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not 

the legal ownership, are transferred to the corporation are 

classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and 

a liability at the lower of the amount equal to the fair 

value of the leased property or the present value of the 

minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed 

residual values. Lease payments are allocated between 

the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest 

expense for the period.

Leased motor vehicles are depreciated on a straight-line 

basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely 

that the corporation will obtain ownership of the asset or 

ownership over the term of the lease.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially 

all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 

charged as expenses in the periods in which they are 

incurred.

e. Impairment of Assets 

   

At the end of each reporting period, the corporation 

reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible 

assets to determine whether there is any indication that 

those assets have been impaired. If such an indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the 

higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-

in-use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any 

excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable 
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amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive 

income.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 

amount of an individual asset, the corporation estimates 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 

which the asset belongs.

f. Employee Benefits 

   

Provision is made for the corporation’s liability for 

employee benefits arising from services rendered by 

employees to the end of the reporting period. Employee 

benefits have been measured at the amounts expected to 

be paid when the liability is settled. 

g. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 

held at-call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months 

or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts, if any, are 

shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the 

statement of financial position.

     

h. Revenue and Other Income  

 

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised by 

reference to the stage of completion of contracts or other 

agreements to provide services. The stage of completion is 

determined according to the proportion that costs incurred 

to date bear to the estimated total costs of the transaction. 

Revenue from disposal of non-current assets is recognised 

when control of the asset has passed to the buyer.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of goods 

and services tax (GST)

• except for receivables and payables; and

• except where the amount of GST incurred is not  

recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office

i. Borrowing Costs 

   

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of assets that necessarily take 

a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended 

use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until 

such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 

intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the 

period in which they are incurred.

     

j. Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 

amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred 

is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these 

circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 

Receivables and payables in the statement of financial 

position are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on 

a gross basis, except for the GST components of investing 

and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating 

cash flows.

     

k. Comparative Figures 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative 

figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 

presentation for the current financial year.

     

l. Trade and Other Payables 

  

Trade and other payables represent the liability 

outstanding at the end of the reporting period for goods 

and services received by the corporation during the 

reporting period, which remain unpaid. The balance is 

recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally 

paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 

m. Provisions 
    

Provisions are recognised when the corporation has a legal 

or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for 

which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 

will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. 

Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the 

amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the 

reporting period.

  

n. Economic Dependency
   

The corporation is recognised as a Native Title 

Representative Body under the Native Title Act 1993 and 

as such is entitled to be funded by the Commonwealth of 
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Australia through the the Department of Prime Minister 

and Cabinet to carry out its statutory functions. SWALSC 

is no longer funded the Department of Family, Housing, 

Community Services and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA). The 

corporation is dependent on continued funding for its 

ability to carry out these activities.

     

o. Critical Accounting Estimates and 
Judgments 

The directors  evaluate estimates and judgments 

incorporated into the financial report based on historical 

knowledge and best available current information. 

Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future 

events and are based on current trends and economic data, 

obtained both externally and within the corporation.

     

Key Estimates — Impairment   

The corporation assesses impairment at the end of each 

reporting period by evaluating conditions that may lead to 

impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, 

the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-

in-use calculations performed in assessing recoverable 

amounts incorporate a number of key estimates.

     

Key Judgments — Doubtful Debts Provision  

 

All accounts receivable at 30 June 2014 are expected to 

be fully recoverable by the directors, and no doubtful debt 

provision has been made at 30 June 2014.

Adoption of New and Revised Accounting 
Standards

During the current year, the corporation has adopted all of 

the new and revised Australian Accounting Standards and 

Interpretations applicable to its operations which became 

mandatory.
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Note 2: revenue

2014 2013
 $  $ 

           3,593,745         3,336,157 
           2,386,827         2,422,538 

Sale of services and other revenue            1,511,078         1,490,689 
                55,399              67,245 
           7,547,049         7,316,629 

2014 2013

 $  $ 
Wages and Salaries            3,948,397         3,645,215 
Superannuation               371,399            329,528 
Leave and other entitlements               476,968            363,162 
Workers compensation premiums                 54,138              23,082 
Total employee benefits            4,850,902         4,360,988 

Note 4: other suppliers
2014 2013

 $  $ 
Goods and services from external 
entities            2,027,228         2,209,873 
Operating lease rentals               530,604            514,243 
Total suppliers expenses            2,557,832         2,724,116 

Note 5: Finance costs
2014 2013

 $  $ 
Finance Lease costs                 32,606              28,840 
Total Finance costs expense                 32,606              28,840 

2014 2013
 $  $ 

                15,620              12,831 
                        -                      -
                        -                      -

                        -                      -

Total auditor's remuneration                 15,620              12,831 

- taxation services provided by related practice of 
auditor

- due diligence services

State grants

- taxation services

Special purpose grants from DPMC

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

Note 6: auditors’ remuneration

Remuneration of the auditor of the Corporation for:
auditing or reviewing the financial report

 Note 3: employee Benefits 

operating revenue

Interest received

SWALSC contributes to superannuation funds chosen by employees. Contributions are made at the statutory rate.

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014
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Note 2: revenue

2014 2013
 $  $ 

           3,593,745         3,336,157 
           2,386,827         2,422,538 

Sale of services and other revenue            1,511,078         1,490,689 
                55,399              67,245 
           7,547,049         7,316,629 

2014 2013

 $  $ 
Wages and Salaries            3,948,397         3,645,215 
Superannuation               371,399            329,528 
Leave and other entitlements               476,968            363,162 
Workers compensation premiums                 54,138              23,082 
Total employee benefits            4,850,902         4,360,988 

Note 4: other suppliers
2014 2013

 $  $ 
Goods and services from external 
entities            2,027,228         2,209,873 
Operating lease rentals               530,604            514,243 
Total suppliers expenses            2,557,832         2,724,116 

Note 5: Finance costs
2014 2013

 $  $ 
Finance Lease costs                 32,606              28,840 
Total Finance costs expense                 32,606              28,840 

2014 2013
 $  $ 

                15,620              12,831 
                        -                      -
                        -                      -

                        -                      -

Total auditor's remuneration                 15,620              12,831 

SWALSC contributes to superannuation funds chosen by employees. Contributions are made at the statutory rate.

Interest received

operating revenue

Note 6: auditor's remuneration

Remuneration of the auditor of the Corporation for:
auditing or reviewing the financial report

 Note 3: employee Benefits 

State grants

- taxation services

Special purpose grants from FaHCSIA

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014
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2014 2013

 $  $ 
Cash at bank and in hand               902,854         1,055,566 
Short-term bank deposits               500,000            800,000 

           1,402,854         1,855,566 

Reconciliation of cash

2014 2013
 $  $ 

CURRENT
Trade Debtors               428,940            193,602 
Other receivables                   1,428                4,100 

              430,368            197,702 

credit risk

< 30 31–60 61–90 > 90

$ $ $ $ $

trade and other receivables 2014 423,491 7,702 - 826-          430,368 

< 30 31–60 61–90 > 90
$ $ $ $  $ 

trade and other receivables 2013 101,546 91,975 2,959 1,223          197,702 

Note 9: trade and other receivables

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

The corporation has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or group of 
counterparties. The main source of credit risk to the corporation is considered to relate to the class of assets described as 
reimbursement for monitoring and site survey fees paid in advance on behalf of the proponents.

total

 total 

Note 8: cash and cash equivalents

The balances of receivables that remain within initial terms (as detailed in the table) are considered to be of high credit 
quality.

The following table details the corporation’s  receivables exposed to credit risk with ageing analysis and impairment 
provided for thereon.  Amounts are considered as ‘past due’ when the debt has not been settled within the terms and 
conditions agreed between the corporation and the member or counterparty to the transaction.  Receivables that are past 
due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining their willingness to pay and are provided for where there are specific 
circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the corporation. 

The corporation does not hold any financial assets classified as loans and receivables.

South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council is a Public Benevolent Institution; therefore exempt from income tax.

Current trade receivables are non-interest bearing loans and are generally receivable within 30 days. A provision for 
impairment is recognised against subscriptions where there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is 
impaired. No impairment was required at 30 June 2014 (2013: Nil).

Past due but Not impaired

(days overdue)

(days overdue)
Past due but Not impairedWithin trade 

terms

Within trade 
terms

Note 7: income tax expense

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to items in the statement of 
financial position as above.

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council Aboriginal Corporation Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
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2014 2013

 $  $ 
Cash at bank and in hand               902,854         1,055,566 
Short-term bank deposits               500,000            800,000 

           1,402,854         1,855,566 

Reconciliation of cash

2014 2013
 $  $ 

CURRENT
Trade Debtors               428,940            193,602 
Other receivables                   1,428                4,100 

              430,368            197,702 

credit risk

< 30 31–60 61–90 > 90

$ $ $ $ $

trade and other receivables 2014 423,491 7,702 - 826-          430,368 

< 30 31–60 61–90 > 90
$ $ $ $  $ 

trade and other receivables 2013 101,546 91,975 2,959 1,223          197,702 

Note 9: trade and other receivables

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

The corporation has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or group of 
counterparties. The main source of credit risk to the corporation is considered to relate to the class of assets described as 
reimbursement for monitoring and site survey fees paid in advance on behalf of the proponents.

total

 total 

Note 8: cash and cash equivalents

The balances of receivables that remain within initial terms (as detailed in the table) are considered to be of high credit 
quality.

The following table details the corporation’s  receivables exposed to credit risk with ageing analysis and impairment 
provided for thereon.  Amounts are considered as ‘past due’ when the debt has not been settled within the terms and 
conditions agreed between the corporation and the member or counterparty to the transaction.  Receivables that are past 
due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining their willingness to pay and are provided for where there are specific 
circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the corporation. 

The corporation does not hold any financial assets classified as loans and receivables.

South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council is a Public Benevolent Institution; therefore exempt from income tax.

Current trade receivables are non-interest bearing loans and are generally receivable within 30 days. A provision for 
impairment is recognised against subscriptions where there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is 
impaired. No impairment was required at 30 June 2014 (2013: Nil).

Past due but Not impaired

(days overdue)

(days overdue)
Past due but Not impairedWithin trade 

terms

Within trade 
terms

Note 7: income tax expense

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to items in the statement of 
financial position as above.

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014
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Note 10: Prepayments
2014 2013

 $  $ 
Prepaid expenses               141,446              58,919 

2014 2013
 $  $ 

457,911            419,083 
Accumulated depreciation (289,070)           (252,916)

168,840            166,167 

Motor Vehicles at cost 314,125            332,658 
Accumulated depreciation (15,365)             (26,220)

298,759            306,438 
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 467,600            472,605 

 motor Vehicles 

   
office 

equipment  total 

 $  $  $ 
Balance at 1 July 2012 311,682 172,724 484,406
Additions 422,283 32,888 455,171
Disposals (398,684) 0 (398,684)
Depreciation expense (28,843) (39,445) (68,288)
Balance at 30 June 2013 306,438 166,167 472,605
Additions 502,221 44,673 546,894
Disposals (489,687) (3,832) (493,519)
Depreciation expense 41,921 (38,168) 3,753
Balance as at 30 June 2014 360,892 168,840 467,600

2014 2013
 $  $ 

CURRENT

Accrued salaries               121,878            110,060 
PAYG provision                 80,555              69,840 
Leave               502,494            427,855 
Superannuation               100,034              91,798 

              804,961            699,553 

NON-CURRENT
Leave                 54,882              30,370 

Probability
0 to 2 Years 0.0%
More than 2yr less than 4 yrs 33.3%
More than 4yr less than 7 yrs 66.7%
More than 7 yrs 100.0%

Office Equipment and Furniture at cost

Note 11: Property, Plant and equipment

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of 
the current financial year.

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

movements in carrying amounts

Non-current employee provisions represent Long Service Leave entitlements of 8.667 weeks after 10 year of service 
accesable after 7 years pro rata. Provision based on the probability of the length of employment:

Note 12: employee Provisions

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014
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2014 2013
 $  $ 

Trade payables               388,205            400,108 
Accrued expenses                 47,173                1,156 
Funds held in trust                 39,000              39,000 
Other liabilities                   4,906              11,173 

              479,284            451,437 

2014 2013
 $  $ 

              234,132 522,877
                        - (75,117)

State Government - Heritage Officer                         - 4,062
Site Surveys/Monitoring/Agreements                 48,662 37,272

              125,387 113,686
DPI/Gracetown Negotiations                         - 6,542
Yued-Empire Oil                         - 3,557
TOLC                         - 18,052
WIP Forum                   2,987 3,085

                34,755 4,867
                        - 291

AG-Anthropologist                 21,000 20,030
FQM Relationship Community                 30,893 3,854
FQM Noongar Development Officer                 18,092 28,423

                  7,992 18,516
NAIDOC Week 2013                         - 4,678
Cultural Development Project                   7,213 0

              531,113 714,671

2014 2013
 $  $ 

CURRENT
Lease liability               255,601            254,349 
Total current lease liability               255,601            254,349 

NON CURRENT
Lease liability                 50,131              58,411 
Total non-current lease liability                 50,131              58,411 

FQM Community Development Mentor

Commonwealth Government PM&C - ILUA
State Government - Settlement Negotiations

Woodside-Noongar Leadership Program

GKB Community Development Officer MCA
GKB Community Development Officer Plan B

Note 15: Borrowings

Note 14: Grants received in advance

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

Income in advance represents grants and other funds that either have not been fully spent at the end of the reporting 
period or provided for projects over multi year periods. They are to be carried forward to the next reporting period to allow 
continous service.

Note 13: trade and other Payables

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014
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2014 2013
 $  $ 

GST Paid 85,884              77,198 
GST Collected (58,173)           (163,539)
Net GST Receivable/(Payable) 27,711             (86,341)

Note 17: retained earnings
2014 2013

 $  $ 
              289,659            297,349 

Current year earnings                   4,350               (7,690)
Total Equity as at 30/6/14               294,008            289,659 

2014 2013
 $  $ 

 - not later than 12 months 255,601            254,349 
50,131              58,411 

 - greater than 5 years -                      -
Minimum lease payments 305,731            312,760 
Less future finance charges (12,229)             (12,510)     
payments 293,502            300,250 

2014 2013

 $  $ 
 - not later than 12 months               292,699            277,607 
 - between 12 months and 5 years                 68,132            423,407 
 - greater than 5 years                         -                      -

              360,831            701,013 

Payable — minimum property lease payments

 - between 12 months and 5 years 

operating lease commitments

mV Finance lease commitments

Albany office - current lease expires on 13 May 2015. There is an option to renew the one year lease for another year up to 
13 May 2017.

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements.

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

Payable — minimum lease payments

Retained earnings as at 30/6/13

The property lease commitment is a non-cancellable operating lease with rent payable monthly in advance. 

Perth office - current lease expires on 28 February 2015 when a decision will be made whether to opt for another period of 
lease.

Note 16:  Gst assets/(liability)

St. George Finance holds a charge over the relevant motor vehicles of the corporation for the finance lease on the same.

Note 18: capital and leasing commitments

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014
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Note 20: cash Flow information

2014 2013
 $  $ 

                  4,350               (7,690)

Prior year adjustment                         -                      -

Non-cash flow in profit:
                69,235              68,288 

                  7,023                8,181 

Changes in assets and liabilities:
             (315,193)           (134,366)

              129,919            159,903 
               (86,205)            269,359 
             (183,558)            386,646 
             (374,429)            750,320 

Note 2014 2013

$ $

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8            1,402,854         1,855,566 
Loans and receivables 9               430,368            197,702 

total financial assets            1,833,222         2,053,268 

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
- trade and other payables 13               479,284            451,437 
- borrowings 15               305,731            312,760 

total financial liabilities               785,016            764,197 

No event occurred after the balance sheet date which would have a material effect upon the financial statements as at 30 
June 2014.

- Increase/(decrease) in grant income in advance

- net gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

- Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

- (Increase)/decrease in trade and term debtors

reconciliation of cash Flow from operations 

Note 19: events after the Balance sheet date 

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to 
operating activities

- Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the accounting 
policies to these financial statements, are as follows:

Operating result

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

Net cash provided by operating activities

- depreciation

Note 21: Financial risk management

The corporation's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
leases.

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014
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a. credit risk 

Credit risk exposures

b. liquidity risk

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014
Financial risk management Policies

specific Financial risk exposures and management

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counterparties of contract 
obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the corporation.

Credit risk is managed through maintaining procedures (such as the utilisation of systems for the approval, granting and 
removal of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposure against such limits and monitoring of the financial stability of 
significant customers and counterparties) ensuring, to the extent possible, that members and counterparties to 
transactions are of sound credit worthiness.  

Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high credit rating or in 
entities that the committee has otherwise cleared as being financially sound.  

The corporation’s treasurer is responsible for, among other issues, monitoring and managing financial risk exposures of 
the corporation.  The treasurer monitors the corporation’s transactions and reviews the effectiveness of controls relating to 
credit risk, financial risk and interest rate risk.  Discussions on monitoring and managing financial risk exposures are held 
bi-monthly and minuted by the directors.

The treasurer’s overall risk management strategy seeks to ensure that the corporation meets its financial targets, while 
minimising potential adverse effects of cash flow shortfalls.

The main risks the corporation is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit 
risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the reporting period is 
equivalent to the carrying value and classification of those financial assets (net of any provisions) as presented in the 
statement of financial position.

There is no collateral held by the corporation securing trade and other receivables.

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due or impaired are considered to be of high credit quality.  Aggregates 
of such amounts are as detailed at Note 9.

The corporation has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of counterparties. 
Details with respect to credit risk of trade and other receivables are provided in Note 9.

- only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and
- proactively monitoring the recovery of receivables.

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the corporation might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or otherwise 
meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities.  The corporation manages this risk through the following mechanisms:

- preparing forward-looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing and financing activities;

The table below reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. 

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of realisation. Actual timing 
may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented in Appendix 1 to settle financial liabilities 
reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates.

Note 21: Financial risk management

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014
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c. market risk

(i) Interest rate risk

(ii) Price risk

Sensitivity analysis

Net Fair Values

Fair value estimation

Fair value estimation

 Net carrying 
Value  Net Fair Value 

 Net carrying 
Value 

 Net Fair 
Value 

 $  $  $  $ 
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents      (i)                1,402,854         1,402,854        1,855,566       1,855,566 
Trade and other receivables     (i)               430,368            430,368           197,702          197,702 
total financial assets            1,833,222         1,833,222        2,053,268       2,053,268 

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables         (i)               479,284            479,284           451,437          451,437 
Lease liability                             (ii)               305,731            305,731           312,760          312,760 
total financial liabilities               785,016            785,016           764,197          764,197 

2013

No financial assets have been pledged as security for any financial liability.

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the reporting period 
whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows.

At 30 June 2014 the corporation has no debt that is fixed. 

The corporation does not have any investments available-for-sale therefore it is not exposed to securities price risk on 
available-for-sale investments.  

No sensitivity analysis has been performed on interest rates, as the corporation does not have debts on fixed terms. 

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

2014

Financial assets pledged as collateral

Price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices of securities held.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be compared to their 
carrying values as presented in the statement of financial position.  Fair values are those amounts at which an asset could 
be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Fair values derived may be based on information that is estimated or subject to judgment, where changes in assumptions 
may have a material impact on the amounts estimated.  Areas of judgment and the assumptions have been detailed 
below.  Where possible, valuation information used to calculate fair value is extracted from the market, with more reliable 
information available from markets that are actively traded.  In this regard, fair values for listed securities are obtained from 
quoted market bid prices.

Note 21: Financial risk management

Note 21: Financial risk management
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2014 2013 2014 2013
short term
Consultancy Fees           14,500                           -                        -                      - 
Short term  employee benefits                    -                           -            701,445           652,348 

Expense reimbursement             3,297                   2,250                        -                      - 
Superannuation                146                           -              64,884             58,711 

Post employment benefits
ETP/Super                    -                           -                        -                      - 

Fringe Benefit tax                    -                           -              13,702               7,661 

(b) loan disclosures

Note 23: economic dependence

1490 Albany Highway
Cannington WA 6107

Key management includes CEO, CFO,  Negotiations Manager, Deputy CEO and Principal Legal Officer.

During the year there were no loans made to a related party of the corporation.

(c) Key management personnel equity holdings

The corporation does not have a share-based payment plan, and as such none of the key management personnel hold any 
securities in the entity.

The registered office and principal place of business is:

South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council Aboriginal Corporation

Note 24: corporation details

(ii) These liabilities are fixed interest leases with guaranteed "buy-back" on the carrying amount.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are short-term instruments in 
nature whose carrying value is equivalent to fair value. Trade and other payables exclude amounts provided for relating to 
annual leave, which is not considered a financial instrument.

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014

The fair values disclosed in the above table have been determined base on the following methodologies:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Board of directors 

The corporation's activites are largely funded by the Commonwealth Government.  At the date of this report, the Board of 
Directors had no reason to believe that the Commonwealth Government would not continue to provide financial support to 
the corporation.

The aggregate compensation of the key management personnel of the corporation is set out below:

 management 

Note 22: related party disclosures
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costs of Native title representative Body Functions

2014 2013
$ $

Facilitation 1,897,120 1,987,861
Certification - -
Dispute resolution - -
Notification - -
Agreement - -
Internal review - -
Other 20,000 -
Total NT Activities 1,917,120 1,987,861
Corporate 1,535,313 1,514,192
Total NT Activities 3,452,433 3,502,053

sources of Funding

2014 2013
$ $

Australian Government 5,980,572 3,336,157
Other Sources 1,566,477 3,980,472
Total Funding 7,547,049 7,316,629

appendix 2

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts For the Year eNded 30 JuNe 2014
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Glossary

AG  Attorney General

ALT  Aboriginal Lands Trust

ATSIC  Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission

BGM  Boddington Gold Mine

CATSI  Corporations (Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006

DEC  Department of Environment and Conservation

DIA  Department of Indigenous Affairs

DPI  Department of Planning and Infrastructure

DOIR  Department of Industry and Resources

EEDA  Employment and Economic Development Agreement

FaHCSIA  Commonwealth Department of Families, Housing, Community   

  Services and Indigenous Affairs

DPMC  Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet

DSS  Department of Social Services

ICC  Indigenous Cordination Centre

ILC  Indigenous Land Corporation

ILuA  Indigenous Land Use Agreement

Mou  Memorandum of Understanding

NNTT  National Native Title Tribunal

NRM  Natural Resource Management

NT  Native Title

NTA  Native Title Act 1993

NTRB  Native Title Representative Body

ONT  State Office of Native Title

RHPA  Regional Heritage Protection Agreement

RPA  Regional Partnership Agreement

SNC  Single Noongar Claim

SWALSC  South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council

TOLC  Traditional Owners Liaison Committee

Definitions  

Noongar means a descendant of the Aboriginal people known as Noongars and who 

identifies as and is accepted as a member of the Noongar peoples by those persons.

Noongar people means those Aboriginal people who, in accordance with the 

customs, laws and traditions of Aboriginal people, have had since before time 

immemorial a physical or spiritual connection to Noongar land.

gLOSSARy AND DEfiNiTiONS
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Legal Assistant
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